Public Document Pack

DEVELOPMENT PLAN PANEL
Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds, LS1 1UR on
Tuesday, 2nd November, 2021
at 1.30 pm

MEMBERSHIP
Councillors
B Anderson
C Campbell
C Gruen
J McKenna
N Walshaw (Chair)
D Collins
R Finnigan
K Brooks
H Hayden
A Lamb
E Taylor

Please Note - Members of the public are now able to attend the meeting in person but
please be mindful that Coronavirus is still circulating in Leeds. Therefore, even if you have
had the vaccine, if you have Coronavirus symptoms: a high temperature; a new,
continuous cough; or a loss or change to your sense of smell or taste, you should NOT
attend the meeting and stay at home and get a PCR test. For those who are attending the
meeting, please bring a face covering unless you are exempt.
Note to observers of the meeting: To remotely observe this meeting, please click on the
‘View the Meeting Recording’ link which will feature on the meeting’s webpage (linked
below) ahead of the meeting. The webcast will become available at the commencement of
the meeting.
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=450&MId=11468&Ver=4

Agenda compiled by:
Natasha Prosser
Governance Services
Telephone: 37 88021

Head of Strategic Planning:
Martin Elliot
Tel: 0113 37 87634
Produced on Recycled Paper

AGENDA

Item
No
1

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No
APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION
OF DOCUMENTS
To consider any appeals in accordance with
Procedure Rule 15.2 of the Access to Information
Rules (in the event of an Appeal the press and
public will be excluded)
(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 15.2, written
notice of an appeal must be received by the Head
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before
the meeting)

2

EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
1

To highlight reports or appendices which
officers have identified as containing exempt
information, and where officers consider that
the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information, for the reasons
outlined in the report.

2

To consider whether or not to accept the
officers recommendation in respect of the
above information.

3

If so, to formally pass the following
resolution:RESOLVED – That the press and public be
excluded from the meeting during
consideration of the following parts of the
agenda designated as containing exempt
information on the grounds that it is likely, in
view of the nature of the business to be
transacted or the nature of the proceedings,
that if members of the press and public were
present there would be disclosure to them of
exempt information, as follows:

Item
No
3

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No
LATE ITEMS
To identify items which have been admitted to the
agenda by the Chair for consideration.
(The special circumstance shall be specified in the
minutes).

4

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
To disclose or draw attention to any interests in
accordance with Leeds City Council’s ‘Councillor
Code of Conduct’.

5

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

6

MINUTES - 9 SEPTEMBER 2021

7 - 10

To agree the minutes of the meeting held Thursday
9th September 2021, as an accurate record.
7

THEMES EMERGING FROM THE LOCAL PLAN
UPDATE STATUTORY CONSULTATION
The report of the Chief Planning Officer sets out
the initial findings of Local Plan Update (LPU)
statutory consultation, which took place from the
19th July – 13th September 2021, as well as key
themes of the LPU consultation by focusing on
three broad areas. Members are requested to
provide comments on the themes emerging from
the statutory consultation.
(Report attached)

11 28

Item
No

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No
UPDATE ON THE HMO, PBSA AND CO-LIVING
AMENITY STANDARDS SPD

8

The report of the Chief Planning Officer provides
an update on the progress of the draft Houses in
Multiple Occupation (HMO), Purpose-Built Student
Accommodation (PBSA) and Co-Living Amenity
Standards Supplementary Planning Document
(SPD). The report also provides an overview of the
consultation, highlights a number of key issues for
consideration and seeks the views of Development
Plan Panel on a proposed route forward.
(Report and Appendix attached)
DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING

9

To note the date and time of the next meeting as
Tuesday 18th January 2022 at 1.30 pm.
Third Party Recording
Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those not
present to see or hear the proceedings either as they take
place (or later) and to enable the reporting of those
proceedings. A copy of the recording protocol is available
from the contacts named on the front of this agenda.
Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of practice
a) Any published recording should be accompanied by
a statement of when and where the recording was
made, the context of the discussion that took place,
and a clear identification of the main speakers and
their role or title.
b) Those making recordings must not edit the recording
in a way that could lead to misinterpretation or
misrepresentation of the proceedings or comments
made by attendees. In particular there should be no
internal editing of published extracts; recordings may
start at any point and end at any point but the
material between those points must be complete.

Third Party Recording
Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those not present to see or hear the proceedings either as they take place (or later) and
to enable the reporting of those proceedings. A copy of the recording protocol is available from the contacts named on the front of this
agenda.
Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of practice
a)
b)

Any published recording should be accompanied by a statement of when and where the recording was made, the context of
the discussion that took place, and a clear identification of the main speakers and their role or title.
Those making recordings must not edit the recording in a way that could lead to misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the
proceedings or comments made by attendees. In particular there should be no internal editing of published extracts;
recordings may start at any point and end at any point but the material between those points must be complete.

29 70

Agenda Item 6
Development Plan Panel
Thursday, 9th September, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillor N Walshaw in the Chair
Councillors B Anderson, C Gruen,
D Collins, K Brooks, H Hayden, A Lamb
and P Carlill

10
Appeals Against Refusal of Inspection of Documents
There were no appeals against the refusal of inspection of documents.
11
Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public
There was no exempt information.
12
Late Items
There were no formal late items.
13
Declaration of Interests
There were no interests raised at the meeting.
14
Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors E Taylor, J McKenna and C
Campbell. Councillor P Carlill attended as a substitute for the duration of the
meeting.
15
Minutes - 6 July 2021
RESOLVED- That the minutes of the Development Plan Panel meeting held on 6th
July 2021 be approved as an accurate record.
Matters Arising
Minute No.7 – updates arising from current and future national guidance changes.
A member queried the availability of the Affordable Housing Deliverability paper, and
it was confirmed there has been a delay in preparing the document to ensure full
consultation and it is now intended to be brought to the DPP meeting in November
2021.
Additionally, a member queried the progress on the Council submitting a funding bid
to Natural England specifically in relation to the requirement to monitor and report
Biodiversity Units to Natural England. The Head of Strategic Planning confirmed
there are two potential sources of funding for Biodiversity Net Gain, but further clarity
is awaited. It was confirmed that West Yorkshire Authorities are commissioning work
on Net Gains and work is underway.
16
Leeds Local Plan Update - Consultation Progress ('Your Neighbourhood,
Your City, Your Planet')

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 2nd November, 2021

Page 5

The report of the Chief Planning Officer provided Members of the Development Plan
Panel with an update on the Local Plan Update Regulation 18 consultation, prior to
receiving a full report after the consultation closes on the 13th September 2021.
The Team Leader (Neighbourhood Planning and Engagement) introduced the report,
and provided an update on the consultation progress ‘Your Neighbourhood, Your
City, Your Planet’, the themes of the consultation relating to carbon reduction, flood
risk, green infrastructure, place-making, as well as sustainable infrastructure and
how this relates to the Council’s key strategies:




Health and Well-being Strategy
Climate Emergency
Inclusive Growth Strategy

It was reported that the number of responses were lower than expected at this stage
of the consultation, but Members were advised that responses can often be made in
the closing days of the consultation. Overall, the consultation has been successful in
numerous areas (quality of the consultation material, social media reach, targeting of
specific groups).
The online nature of the consultation presented both opportunities and challenges for
this consultation and there will be an opportunity to reflect on these and learn
lessons for future consultations.
Members were informed that an update will be brought to the Development Plan
Panel meeting in November to report on the overall number and quality of responses
received, with intent to feed into the draft Plan.
In response to Member’s questions, the following information was confirmed:
 Clarity on the Interim Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) and the full
SCI. Members heard that the interim SCI allowed colleagues to undertake
plan making activity and the full SCI will be brought before Panel Members at
the DPP meeting in November.
 Ward members were advised of the events taking place, and information was
shared on how members can promote the consultation through their social
media channels.
 Good engagement work has taken place with Universities in Leeds and a
work placement student from Leeds Beckett University has promoted the
consultation survey through a student forum of approximately 50k users.
 Next stages will look at how specific policies following on from the
consultation will relate to and shape future developments and consultative
approaches will maintain the creativity and language used for the interim SCI.
RESOLVED –
a) To note the contents of the report, together with comments raised during
discussion of this item.
b) To note the intention to receive a report in full at the Development Plan Panel
meeting scheduled to take place in November 2021, following the close of the
consultation.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 2nd November, 2021

Page 6

17
Revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and National Model
Design Code (NMDC) - July 2021
The report of the Chief Planning Officer informed Members of the Development Plan
Panel of the Government’s revisions to the National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF) and the new National Model Design Code (NMDC).
The Principal Planner introduced the report and informed members on key changes
of the revised NPPF, that were in response to the Building Better Building Beautiful
Commission (BBBC) ‘Living with Beauty’ report with additional changes to the text of
the NPPF following on from the Government’s White Paper ‘Planning for the Future’
consultation 2020. It was noted that the report doesn’t detail a full revision to the
NPPF, and additional revisions are expected.
Whilst the Council are generally supportive of the changes with increased focus on
design, climate change, biodiversity and place making. Members were informed that
there was a lack of clarity and outstanding concerns around:
 The definition of ‘beauty’;
 The application of Article 4 directions (including the future of town and local
centres); and
 The new guidance on flood risk.
The Panel noted that Leeds was successful in its bid to take part in the six-month
pilot to develop local design codes and acknowledged there would be a workshop
taking place at the commencement of the meeting on this subject.
The Panel discussed the following matters:
 The training in place to ensure planning colleagues are up to date on changes
made to the NPPF and NMDCs, with specific focus on the importance of
design.
 The Development Plan Panels next steps in terms of the areas listed as being
of concern, particularly Article 4 Directions and Permitted Development rights.
Panel members were keen to explore how Leeds will interpret those areas in
the NPPF.
 Ensuring that planning terminology is easily interpreted for members of the
public, by creating a streamlined document. It was noted that officers are
intending to create a quick table outlining NPPF changes in simple form.
 The position on making effective use of land whilst ensuring the 5-year
housing land supply and concerns relating to strain on various services such
as transport networks.
 Panel members were keen to hear from the school of architecture and a
philosopher, to understand their meaning behind ‘beauty’ and place-making
and it was requested that an invitation be extended to them for a future
meeting. Officers highlighted the importance of understanding more about the
prominence of good design that is related to local circumstances and local
characters of areas across the city.
RESOLVED –
a) To note the contents of the report, together with comments raised during
discussion of this item.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 2nd November, 2021

Page 7

18
Date and Time of Next Meeting
RESOLVED – To note the date and time of the next meeting as Tuesday 2 nd
November 2021 at 1.30 pm.
(The meeting concluded at 14:50)

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 2nd November, 2021

Page 8

Agenda Item 7

Report author: Adam Harvatt
Tel: 0113 3787637

Themes Emerging from the Local Plan Update Statutory
Consultation
Date: 2nd November 2021
Report of: Chief Planning Officer
Report to: Development Plan Panel
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Wards affected: ALL
Have ward members been consulted?

☐ Yes

☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions


This report sets out the initial findings of Local Plan Update (LPU) statutory consultation,
which took place from the 19th July – 13th September 2021. In line with Regulation 18 of the
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, the purpose of
the consultation was to provide stakeholders with the opportunity to comment on the subject
and proposed objectives of the Local Plan Update (i.e. its scope). That scope has been
defined and agreed by Executive Board (as advised by Development Plan Panel (DPP)), as
a focus on new or revised planning policy to help tackle the climate emergency. This is set
within the context of the City Council declaring a ‘Climate Emergency’, in March 2019,
prompting urgent action across the Council and with a range of stakeholders. In terms of the
LPU, this scope was set out across five broad topic areas and associated objectives
covering 1) Carbon Reduction, 2) Flood Risk, 3) Green Infrastructure, 4) Placemaking, and
5) Sustainable Infrastructure. As such, the aspiration is that the LPU will make a key
contribution to meeting the Council’s climate emergency priorities and ambitions. In addition,
it is expected that the subject of the Local Plan Update will also make vital positive
contributions, through closely related topics, to inclusive growth and the health and
wellbeing agendas.



The analysis of the representations is still ongoing, and as such the details provided as part
of this report are interim in nature, and do not seek to pre-judge the final outcomes of the
consultation when that analysis is concluded.

Recommendations
a) Members are requested to note the contents of the report and provide comments on the
emerging themes.

Page 9

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1. Members are requested to provide comments on the themes emerging from the statutory
consultation. Whilst analysis of the representations is not yet complete, some themes are
emerging and these are being presented to Members at this interim stage so that Members can
provide an initial view, given the crucial role of public consultation on Plan-making. The report
sets out the key themes of the LPU consultation by focusing on three broad areas: 1) Did
respondents support the general and/or detailed scope of the Plan (including policy options)?,
2) Were reasonable alternatives raised by respondents, either on detailed policy areas or on the
overall scope of the LPU as a whole?, and 3) Have respondents provided new evidence that
would help in the development of planning policies as part of the next stage of the LPU planmaking process?
2. The review and analysis of all consultation responses is still underway. To date, officers have
analysed approximately 70% of the email representations and 50% of the online responses.
The key themes raised by these, set out below, are emerging and it is important to note that
additional themes or alternative views on these themes may emerge from the remainder of the
representations that remain to be analysed. Where graphs and charts are provided in this
report, they are derived from a complete assessment of the relevant Smartsurvey responses
but do not include data derived from email responses or summary questionnaires (unless stated
otherwise). Members are asked to comment on the findings so far.
3. The full analysis is continuing and will be presented as a full Report of Consultation to the next
meeting of DPP in January. As such, as stated above, it is important not to pre-judge the
results of the final analysis. However, it is felt that the emerging themes provide a helpful
snapshot of some of the views that have been expressed. The representations are derived from
4 main sources, 1) Online ‘Smartsurvey’ responses to the full list of consultation questions, 2)
Online ‘Smartsurvey’ responses to a summary list of questions (which had an emphasis on
making the consultation accessible), 3) email responses, and 4) postcard questionnaire
responses captured on-street by ‘Our Future Leeds’. Taken as a whole, the representations
provide a wealth of data indicating levels of support for proposed policy areas and include
suggestions, advice and good practice, on ways of developing and improving policies, as well
as new evidence that can help us develop these policies. The focus now is to undertake a
detailed analysis of this data to help inform an assessment of reasonable alternatives to meet
the objectives of the Plan.
What impact will this proposal have?
4. The impact of this report is that Members will be made aware of some of the key matters and
themes that have emerged from the consultation, as part of this initial analysis. These matters
are ordered in relation to 1) the Overall Scope, 2) Carbon reduction, 3) Flood risk, 4) Green
Infrastructure, 5) Placemaking, 6) Sustainable Infrastructure, and 7) the scope of the
Sustainability Appraisal. The themes below are derived from a combination of qualitative data
derived from email responses and a mixture of qualitative and quantitative data derived from the
Smartsurvey full consultation and summary consultation. However, given that these are initial
findings, it should not be considered as a full record of the consultation responses.
Overall Scope

Page 10

Do you agree that to meet the objective of the Local Plan Update the scope should
focus on the Climate Emergency, including topics 1. Carbon Reduction 2. Flood
Risk 3. Green Infrastructure 4. Place-Making 5. Sustainable Infrastructure?

Response Response
Percent
Total

Answer Choices

1

Strongly agree

80.3%

183

2

Agree

7.9%

18

3

Neither agree nor
disagree

5.7%

13

4

Disagree

2.2%

5

5

Strongly disagree

3.9%

9

answered

228

5. The chart above shows that of those who responded to the full online response form there was
strong support for the proposed scope of the Plan (with the relevant data from emails and
summary questionnaires still to be collated). The vast majority of consultee representations so
far analysed have made it clear that they support the Plan focussing on the climate emergency,
with respondents being encouraged by the proposed direction the Plan will take. Respondents
have also clearly stated their feelings, that addressing the climate emergency is the most
pressing issue faced by the Council and society at large.
6. However, a small number of respondents suggested that alternative matters should also be
addressed in the scope of the Plan. In particular a number of consultees suggested that
housing policies and allocations should be included within the scope of this Plan, including
reassessing the housing requirement to include the Government’s standard method and 35%
urban uplift, reassessing needs for affordable housing and its delivery, or looking to curtail
housing growth in order to reduce further carbon emissions.
7. In most cases where respondents are seeking to broaden the subject of the Plan and its scope,
they are still overtly supportive of the inclusion of the climate emergency as the key driver for
the LPU. Such consultees are seeking additions, rather than deletions to the proposed scope.
These suggestions will be considered in relation to the specific subject and proposed objectives
of the LPU and also within the wider Local Plan process. It is noted that in defining the
objectives of the LPU the Council carried out a Review of Local Plan policies in 2020, to see if
they needed to be updated, in line with Government guidance.
8. Finally, it is noted that a very small number of respondents objected to the proposed scope of
the Plan on the basis of rejecting the Council’s objectives of addressing the climate emergency,
citing the potential for negative impacts on private car use and the knock-on effects this could
have on the economy.
Carbon Reduction

Page 11

9. In quantitative terms, there was strong support for new or refreshed policies on all the policy
areas raised within the Carbon reduction topic.
10. The detailed comments analysed so far covered issues including:
11. Whole Life Carbon Emissions – general support was expressed for a policy requiring
assessments to be made in whole life carbon emissions, with many consultees expressing that
these kinds of assessments should be introduced as soon as possible. Detailed comments
included:











Concerns over how policy will interrelate with other policies and how it could affect the
viability for small house builders, who argue that it should only apply to large schemes,
Concerns over who will monitor/assess the information, otherwise applicants will be ‘marking
their own homework’,
Views expressed that Building Regulations may be a better place to introduce this kind of
assessment. However, others considered that current Building Regulations do not go far
enough,
Clarity needed for the assessment framework/agreed standard. Also, requests were made
for a transitional period to allow the housing industry to understand how to undertake an
assessment,
Better use of modular buildings that can be easily deconstructed and re-assembled to give
building materials new purpose,
The Council may need to widen the types of technology used, which may mean relaxing
planning guidance on the appearance of buildings,
The Council should be promoting the re-use of existing buildings first and foremost,
Views expressed that developers and builders will not do this voluntarily, so policies must be
robust.

12. Operational Energy – strong support was expressed for a zero-carbon emissions energy
standard to be introduced into planning policy as shown in the tables below.

Do you think we should require new development to achieve a zero-carbon energy
performance standard for the operational use of the buildings?
Answer Choices

Response
Percent

Response
Total

1

Yes

88.52%

54

2

No

11.48%

7

answered

61

Please note this is a collation of online responses to the above question in the FULL
documentation and does not take account of responses via email or Smartsurvey to
the SUMMARY consultation.

Do you agree or disagree with the following Policy Idea: Zero carbon developments –
There is an opportunity to ensure there are improvements to the energy efficiency of new
developments so their operational energy use is carbon neutral.
Answer Choices

1

Strongly agree

Page 12

Response
Percent

Response
Total

87.13%

88

Do you agree or disagree with the following Policy Idea: Zero carbon developments –
There is an opportunity to ensure there are improvements to the energy efficiency of new
developments so their operational energy use is carbon neutral.
2

Agree

9.90%

10

3

Neither agree nor disagree

1.98%

2

4

Disagree

0.00%

0

5

Strongly disagree

0.99%

1

answered

101

Please note this is a collation of responses to the above question in the SUMMARY
documentation and does not take account of responses via email or Smartsurvey to
the FULL consultation.

Page 13

13. The following detailed points were also raised as part of the consultation:













Carbon off-setting should be the last resort,
All new buildings should be required to provide solar panels,
The technology exists to introduce carbon neutral development now, and therefore this
should be a requirement of development,
Retrofitting poorly insulated older properties is a bigger priority,
The policy will need to define what zero energy performance means and how to measure it,
It is unreasonable for all developments to be zero carbon within such a short time frame,
New standards can cause confusion and undermine economies of scale for product
manufacturers,
Rather than introducing new bespoke targets, the new national Future Homes Standards
should be used for operational carbon performance standards. The Council needs to take
Government policy into account and any future changes to the Building Regulations,
Certain development, such as healthcare buildings, have different energy demands and
have difficulty meeting high energy standards,
General support for new development requiring on site renewable energy, however any
policy would need to understand that site constraints may not allow it,
On site renewables may not always be the most efficient way to meet standards.

14. Sustainable Construction – There is strong support for Leeds setting a sustainable
construction standard, with many consultees expressing the view that this should be a national
or international standard rather than Leeds developing their own bespoke standard. The
contrary view is that existing standards do not go far enough, and that Leeds could develop its
own world leading standard for sustainable construction. Concerns were expressed from some
representatives of the development industry that any future standards should not be overly
prescriptive, as such an approach could limit innovation and new working practices. Comments
also suggested that Leeds should work with other Local Planning Authorities to avoid a
fragmented approach.
15. Resilience to Heat – General support was expressed for a policy on this topic. Objectors raised
the issue that matters related to overheating were already covered in existing guidance and
regulations. However, other consultees expressed the view that these did not go far enough to
meet the challenges we are likely to face. Detailed responses provided information on
ventilation systems (natural and mechanical), the importance of improved fabric efficiency and
the dangers of solar gain via windows.
16. Renewable Energy – strong support was expressed for the provision of renewable energy, with
many respondents feeling that 100% of the energy needs of a development should be derived
from on-site renewable sources. Below are some of the detailed comments raised:






The requirement of on-site provision will help encourage the growth of the industry,
Appropriate energy storage solutions also need to be factored in, as small-scale generation
is not readily accommodated by the National Grid,
Ground source heat pumps are more efficient than air source heat pumps and are ideal for
larger sites,
New builds can be designed to ensure roof mounted PV cells are perfectly aligned to the
sun, to maximise efficiency,
Rainwater harvesting should be incorporated into new developments,
Page 14




The Council should be encouraging the use of new technologies such as solar glass (a clear
photovoltaic cell that can be used in windows whilst also generating electricity),
The Canal and Rivers Trust have raised ideas on water source heat pumps, and the
opportunities provided by the canal network to generate renewable energy.

17. There was also general support for the strategic provision of renewable energy, with many
consultees supporting setting local targets. Evidence has been provided from Munich and
Vancouver which have committed to generating 100% of their energy from renewable sources
by 2025 and 2050 respectively. However, others felt that there were limited benefits for Leeds
taking such an approach when the national policy approaches to energy would dwarf any
contribution Leeds could make, particularly with the economies of scale of off-shore wind being
far more efficient than local solutions.
Flood Risk
18. The initial findings of the consultation suggest that there is broad support for the Flood Risk
topic in general and the detailed policy areas in particular to be included within the scope of the
Plan. A range of stakeholders have provided comments including detailed comments from
statutory consultees such as the Environment Agency, as well as developers and members of
the public.
19. The comments covered issues including:
20. Development in flood risk areas - initial results show strong support for this policy area being
within the scope of the LPU. However, a range of opinions have been expressed relating to
whether the Council has currently got the balance right between locating homes close to the
services and facilities that people need whilst avoiding high flood risk areas. Most respondents
(of those anaylsed) feel that we need to give priority to avoiding flood risk, with suggestions that
these areas would be better used for ‘rewilding’ than for development. However, others have
expressed the view that provided buildings can be made resilient to flooding then development
can take place in otherwise sustainable locations that are subject to flood risk. The Civic Trust
(amongst others) raised the view that new developments may no longer need to be located
close to services due to increased digital connectivity limiting the role of physical proximity.
21. Functional floodplain – strong support was expressed for limiting urban expansion in
unprotected high flood risk areas, with some consultees noting that an adequate land supply
was protected by the Flood Alleviation Scheme (FAS). The Environment Agency (EA) have
requested that the Council write policy to limit development in flood risk areas and future high
flood risk areas under climate change scenarios. It should be noted that this policy position
would go beyond the existing provisions of the NPPF.
22. Related to this issue the EA also advise through their representation that the LPU should
include a policy which sets out which uses would be appropriate in which flood risk zones, in
order to ensure that no inappropriate development is developed in areas of high flood risk.
23. Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) – Similarly there is general support for the LPU to
consider policies relating to SuDS and the Council’s suggested approaches within the
consultation material to increase their usage in developments, with the notable exception of
objections from some housebuilders and other developers who have expressed the view that
matters relating to SuDS should be left to the NPPF.

Page 15

24. Resilience – There is strong support for enhancing the Local Plan Policy position with regard to
flood resilient housing. However, a number of representatives of the housebuilding industry
have argued that Leeds should not be setting new standards for flood resilient housing on the
grounds of cost and viability. It is also argued that local standards may reduce the opportunities
for developers to use modern methods of construction. Other representations have raised the
following issues:






Clarity needed on the role of blue infrastructure in place-making as well as green
infrastructure,
Policy needs to get the balance right between encouraging innovation and meeting
standards,
Strong emphasis from others that resilience is an essential regardless of the cost,
If we want to build in flood risk areas it must be demonstrated that the developments are
resilient to flooding,
The EA are keen for us to set our own policies for safe access and egress.

Do you agree or disagree with the following Policy Idea: Enhanced resilience –
Making sure development is safe for its lifetime, increasing flood proofing and
ensuring safe access and escape routes are included where appropriate.
Response Response
Percent
Total

Answer Choices

1

Strongly agree

86.67%

65

2

Agree

10.67%

8

3

Neither agree nor disagree

2.67%

2

4

Disagree

0.00%

0

5

Strongly disagree

0.00%

0

answered

75

Please note this is a collation of responses to the above question in the
SUMMARY documentation and does not take account of responses via email or
Smartsurvey to the FULL consultation.

25. Vulnerable People – broad support was expressed for the view that accommodation for more
vulnerable people should not be in areas of high flood risk.

9. Should the Local Plan consider where accommodation for more vulnerable people is
located?
Response Response
Percent
Total

Answer Choices
1

Yes

91.89%

34

2

No

8.11%

3

Page 16

9. Should the Local Plan consider where accommodation for more vulnerable people is
located?
Please note this is a collation of online responses to the above question in the FULL
documentation and does not take account of responses via email or Smartsurvey to
the SUMMARY consultation.

answered

37

26. Permitted development rights and porous paving – Strong support was expressed for the
LPU considering this vital issue, whilst noting frustrations at the lack of powers that local
authorities have in this regard, as a result of permitted development rights. Ideas were raised in
line with a policy approach adopted in Harringay which requires a % of the site area to be kept
green or natural, limiting further extensions to existing properties within flood risk areas.
However, of course it must be noted that any formal policy can only be applied where planning
permission is required.

Green infrastructure
27. Overall, there is strong support for the inclusion of Green Infrastructure policies within the LPU.
As a general matter, a number of consultees expressed a desire to see more overt references
being made to blue infrastructure as part of a combined ‘Green and Blue Infrastructure’ topic.
As part of this, both the EA and Natural England have asked for the LPU to include policies on
water quality and water resources.
28. The comments covered issues including:
29. Biodiversity – There is significant debate within the representations as to whether the Council
should stick with the 10% biodiversity net gain baseline as established through the Environment
Bill, or whether it should pursue a more ambitious local target. Generally, those within the
development industry supported not exceeding the 10% figure, citing the viability of future
developments as a key concern. Others felt that the real issue was not one of percentages but
about the long-term management and maintenance of any gains for nature, thus ensuring that
ecologically beneficial improvements were made.
30. In addition, the view has been expressed that the LPU needs to make clear mention of the
‘ecological emergency’ as well as the ‘climate emergency’, given the impact human activity is
having on bird and insect populations.
31. Trees –

Do you agree or disagree with the following Policy Idea: Plant more trees – There is
an opportunity to better protect the trees we have and plant more new trees to help
capture dangerous carbon emissions, manage flood risk and create happier
healthier places.
Response Response
Percent
Total

Answer Choices
1

Strongly agree

86.32%

82

2

Agree

9.47%

9

Page 17

Do you agree or disagree with the following Policy Idea: Plant more trees – There is
an opportunity to better protect the trees we have and plant more new trees to help
capture dangerous carbon emissions, manage flood risk and create happier
healthier places.
3

Neither agree nor disagree

3.16%

3

4

Disagree

1.05%

1

5

Strongly disagree

0.00%

0

answered

95

Please note this is a collation of responses to the above question in the
SUMMARY documentation and does not take account of responses via email or
Smartsurvey to the FULL consultation.

Page 18

32. Strong support was shown for the protection of existing trees and for increased new planting.
The consultation has highlighted the tension between clarity and flexibility, which emerges when
making decisions on setting clear targets for tree replacement based on a numeric approach
(e.g. 3 for 1), or those based on replacing on-site levels of carbon sequestration, which would
be more bespoke to each site. Generally, there is support for going further than the existing
policy requirement of a 3:1 replacement, with the importance of tree diversity also being
highlighted. This helps to increase resilience, by avoiding similar species in the same locality,
and their potential to be collectively impacted by disease. Other ideas/matters raised included:







Presumption in favour of native and local species,
Promote the planning of hedgerows as wildlife corridors and ensure their management and
maintenance encourages increased biodiversity,
Policies should allow for off-site provision where sites are particularly constrained e.g. city
centre,
Trees are important in protecting the ecology of rivers,
Use Leeds Habitat Network and Local Nature Recovery Strategies to identify suitable
locations for additional woodland,
All mature trees should be treated as if having Tree Preservation Order status, due to their
carbon sequestration and biodiversity value.

33. Nature conservation – strong support was shown for enhancing planning policy related to
nature conservation, with comments including:







Homeowners should be encouraged to rewild their gardens and plant productive plants
which enhance natural drainage, promote biodiversity, increase carbon storage and also
deliver crops,
Provision must be made for monitoring and reviewing the Leeds Habitat Network to ensure
that it is a high quality and effective ecological network across Leeds District and beyond,
Must require development to maintain and create connectivity between habitats to prevent
fragmentation of nature and maintain healthy populations of animals and plants that are then
more resilient to climate change,
Bird and bat boxes should be provided on all new homes.

34. However, other respondents suggested that new policies were not required and instead reliance
should be placed on national policy and regulations.
35. Food production – Strong support was expressed for the LPU including new policies for local
food production, with many consultees noting the negative impacts food miles has on the
environment and the lack of connection modern communities have to the food they eat. Many
representations have included detailed responses and these comments have helped expand
our understanding of the issues presented by this topic. Organisations such as Feed Leeds are
keen for us to work closely with them in the future as we develop new policy. Comments raised
included:




Consideration should be given to requiring “growing space” to be part of new developments,
through larger gardens, allotments and other community food growing spaces,
Land should be set aside for local food growing and use of Shared Spaces and roof
gardens,
Support for new techniques such as hydroponics, aeroponics and mushroom farming, with
places such as roofs and abandoned buildings being better utilised. As well as under-utilised
land such as car parks which sit largely empty,
Page 19






Targets could be set for local food production and this could be supported by smaller
allotment plots and use of Council parks to include community food growing projects
More allotments need to be provided,
The policy should also focus on commercial food production by better protecting good
quality agricultural land,
The ‘Space Left Over After Planning’ - SLOAP - runs to many thousands of square metres
within the city, and policy to ensure that this land is either planted with low maintenance
edible forest garden style plantings, or made available for local community growing, could
open up many new opportunities for local residents.

36. However, some representatives of the development industry feel that food production areas
should not be provided as part of new housing development, as this would reduce the quantity
of housing that could be delivered. Instead, local food production should be considered more
strategically and considers whether local parks could incorporate such provision.
37. Green space – Responses suggest that stakeholders are supportive of increased greenspace
provision within the City Centre and beyond. However, contrary opinions suggested that the
City Centre may have different needs to other areas and that the importance of hard
landscaping should not be dismissed. In addition, fears have been raised that better
greenspace (and other GI more generally) as part of new developments could result in higher
maintenance costs, which could get passed on to consumers. Separately, strong support has
been expressed for green roofs, green walls and roof gardens, to be part of the green space
and wider GI solution. Further comments included:





The Council needs to better understand the types of greenspace it would like to see on
sites. More clarity and evidence needs to be provided,
Trees are multifunctional, so are a really positive tool for meeting multiple needs,
Green verges need protection,
GI should be better and more clearly defined to ensure we can better protect it.

Placemaking
38. 20-Minute Neighbourhoods – Responses indicate that consultees are very supportive of the
20-minute neighbourhood concept, particularly as a means of tackling climate change and also
the effects of current and future pandemics. Detailed questions and comments have related to:




How the concept can be applied across the city,
How can we be proactive with other Council directorates to make sure the delivery of
services are co-ordinated,
Some representatives of the development industry have also expressed support but state
that the concept needs to align with housing delivery, with calls for a review of the SAP
given their opinion that housing is not being distributing correctly.

39. Presumption against cars – General support was expressed for the Council’s aspirations to
be a City where you don’t need to own a car and how planning policies could be used to
prevent further car-borne developments, with much of the emphasis being placed on increasing
the ease of active travel and public transport. Views were also expressed that new
developments should be as car-free as possible. However, strong views were also expressed
by those who for a range of reasons (mobility, employment access etc) felt they had to own a
car and feared being unfairly penalised.

Page 20

40. Sustainable Development Checklist – There was general support for ensuring that health and
wellbeing and climate change issues were fully addressed in all development proposals.
Supporters felt that such an approach would encourage greater provision of local amenities and
active travel opportunities. It was also felt that it could be used to support developers taking
appropriate action, provided they could be enforced. However, it should be noted that other
consultees feared that such checklists would result in increased bureaucracy and red-tape for
development, with little benefit.
Sustainable Infrastructure
41. HS2 – strong support has been expressed for a policy on this topic. Some of the issues raised
included:







Greater emphasis should be placed on Northern Powerhouse Rail and Transpennine
upgrades, with many feeling this is more crucial than HS2,
The Council should not focus on just the station element of HS2; the wider scheme itself is
also key and how it integrates with the wider city,
Improving integrated transport is the key, justifying strong links to the transport strategy,
The policy should focus on ensuring permeable and active spaces underneath the viaduct,
There is an opportunity to enhance the river environment, given the proximity to water
courses,
Given the uncertainty surrounding HS2 there should be a focus on making Leeds Station a
hub for active travel and its crucial connections with other public transport modes.

42. Mass Transit – general support was expressed for a policy considering Mass Transit. However,
many respondents raised the argument that the Council should still be focussing on improving
existing bus and rail networks, noting the risks of relying too heavily on the transformational
benefits of Mass Transit, should the project not come to fruition. Comments also raised the
following issues:





Safeguarding of the route would be premature at this stage as there is a lack of clarity on
that route,
Mass transit should link to the overall spatial strategy of development, so greater densities
can be delivered at key transport nodes,
Mass Transit’s role as a stimulus for new investment means that the route can have a
positive impact on communities,
Important to consider natural surveillance at stops, as well as how walking routes can be
made attractive for pedestrians.

Page 21

43. Leeds Bradford Airport – strong support was expressed for a new policy concerning Leeds
Bradford Airport. However, some doubts were expressed as to whether the sustainability of the
airport could be enhanced. Leeds Bradford Airport have responded to express their in-principle
support for the LPU whilst also highlighting the important role the airport has for the local
economy, as well as the importance of the LPU following national policy. Other consultees
(including WYCA) have set out that a future policy should explicitly set out how the airport could
be supported through the development of public transport, such as rail and bus, and establish
who is responsible for delivering and funding these interventions and by when.
44. Digital Connectivity – There is strong general support for the Council providing new policies
on digital connectivity, largely in response to the important role digital connectivity has in
modern life, and the damage it can do for those who do not have a good level of connectivity.
However, some representatives of the development industry felt (whilst clearly noting the
importance of digital connectivity) that the Council should not be establishing standards that go
beyond the provisions of existing national policy and building regulations, particularly in light of
the Government’s commitment to address this through new legislation.
Sustainability Appraisal
45. The Local Plan Update will need to be accompanied by a Sustainability Appraisal (SA) prepared
in accordance with the requirements of the Environmental Assessment of Plans and
Programmes Regulations 2004. The first stage of the Sustainability Appraisal process is to
prepare a Scoping Report to consult with the three environmental consultee bodies (the
Environment Agency, Natural England and Historic England) which:






identifies other policies, plans and programmes relevant to the LPU,
provides baseline information, either already collected or still needed,
identifies social, environmental and economic issues identified as a result of the work
undertaken,
presents the SA framework, including objectives and indicators, and,
sets out the proposed structure and content of the SA Report.

46. An SA Scoping Report has been prepared and consultation undertaken with the Environmental
Bodies during the LPU Scoping consultation period. The proposed scope was based on the SA
Framework used to assess the Core Strategy Selective Review adopted in 2019 with an update
to baseline economic, social and environmental data and policies, plans and programme
reflecting the scope of the LPU themes.
47. Responses were received from the Environment Agency (EA) and Natural England who both
expressed general support for the proposed approach of the Sustainability Appraisal. The EA
have suggested an additional sustainability objective around the water environment and water
resources and the need to include reference to groundwater and preventing pollution. Both
bodies have provided further information in relation to policies, plans and programme and
baseline data that should be considered within the appraisal process.

Page 22

What consultation and engagement has taken place?
48. The scoping consultation for LCC’s draft LPU ran from 19 July 2021 to 13 September 2021.
Titled ‘Your Neighbourhood, Your City, Your Planet’, the draft update’s main subject is on
shaping policies to reduce the city’s impact on the environment and its objective to help achieve
net zero carbon emissions by 2030. The consultation was carried out in accordance with the
Council’s adopted interim Statement of Community Involvement.
49. During this time COVID restrictions continued to affect the way LCC could consult and engage
with stakeholders, limiting face-to-face opportunities which might previously have been
employed.
50. At the same time there was the appetite to change our approach from traditional PDF and print
methods which are permissible under statutory obligations around planning consultation,
towards digital first communications which would make materials more accessible to a wider
audience.
51. Overall, 760 formal consultation submissions were made. Of these, 655 submissions were
made via Smart Survey links from content on the website. 65 responses were received via
email, with the remaining 40 being individual postcard submissions organised by ‘Our Future
Leeds’. Of the 655 Smart Survey submissions, 417 submissions (64%) related to the
summaries of each topic. This demonstrates that more people were inclined to interact with
shorter versions of the material. However, it should be noted that the 760 figure does not
include verbal responses received as part of group workshops, including events held for young
people and older people. For clarity, these comments will also be given full regard.
52. In total, 166,693 people were shown adverts for the consultation via Facebook. This resulted in
10,345 unique views of the website over the campaign duration, with 69% of people accessing
content via mobile or tablet, compared to 45% for other Planning content on the City Council’s
website.
53. In conclusion, communications have been effective in reaching a broad range of people and
communities, establishing a baseline for us to work from along with stimulating conversations
around ‘best practice’ in how we communicate planning consultations in future.
54. Efforts to move to a more digital and accessible way of communicating have broadly been wellreceived but as we move out of the pandemic we need to consider how a ‘digital-first’ approach
should be supplemented by face-to-face / traditional communications that may be more
effective in other communities.
55. Digital and social media promotion and advertising has provided us with valuable data around
who is engaging with our communications across the district. We should adapt our approach to
future communications using this learning to ensure we are reaching as wide and as
representative an audience as possible.
56. The fact that nearly two-thirds of responses came from Smart Surveys linked to summary
content demonstrates demand for abridged versions of the information, and consideration
needs to be given to how these should be incorporated into future communications wherever
possible.
What are the resource implications?

Page 23

57. The preparation of the LPU and accompanying evidence base is a resource intensive
endeavour which incurs additional cost, in terms of evidence base preparation and
consultation, at a time of increased budget pressure. In general, costs will be met from within
existing provisions. All of the work undertaken has been with collaboration with teams from
across the Council.
58. With particular consideration of the resource implications for future rounds of consultations, as
we move out of the pandemic we need to consider how a ‘digital-first’ approach should be
supplemented by face-to-face / traditional communications that may be more effective in some
communities.
What are the legal implications?
59. Consultation must be in accordance with Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. This requires that the Local Planning Authority
must notify residents, businesses and consultation bodies on the “subject of the local plan
which the local planning authority propose to prepare and invite each of them to make
representations to the local planning authority about what a local plan with that subject ought to
contain”. The consultation has been undertaken in this way and using the methods noted
above. Representations received shall be considered prior to the preparation of the publication
draft LPU (“Regulation 19”).
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
60. The plan-making process is a complex one and subject to a number of inherent risks as well as
the risk surrounding the overall objective of the LPU to help address the climate emergency.
These risks are as follows:
61. Changes to national guidance – this remains a key risk to policy development as it is likely that
by the time draft policies are submitted to the Secretary of State for examination by the
Planning Inspectorate the Government may have changed the planning and building control
systems. The Council will therefore need to set out clear evidential links between proposed
policies and achieving its Carbon Budget as required by the Climate Change Act 2008 as well
as seeking to pre-empt a national direction of travel. It is considered that the 2021 United
Nations Climate Change Conference (COP26) will help provide a broad direction of travel for
national policy making. From a technical perspective, changes to the planning system may
result in national Development Management policies (as expressed through a revised NPPF)
not giving local authorities flexibility to set their own policies on the matters proposed to be in
scope for the LPU. In addition, proposed changes to the building regulations may result in local
authorities having no scope to prescribe carbon emission rates from new development. At
present however, LPAs are being encouraged to continue progressing with their Local Plans.
62. The viability of development – the LPU plays a key role in helping development reduce carbon
emissions and help places adapt to climate change. However, there remains a requirement for
Leeds to meet its development needs to adequately house its residents and provide necessary
jobs. Therefore, the policies need to be effective and viable, both individually and cumulatively.
This will be a key issue in plan-making and the Council will seek to work proactively with the
development industry to consider the ways in which innovative approaches to development
viability can be used to help deliver the objective of the LPU.

Page 24

63. Resources – the Council’s overall financial position is challenging. This may impact on the
resources available for progressing the Local Plan Update No. 1 in a timely manner and, in
association with other parts of the Local Plan, may involve sequencing plan-production in
accordance with resources available.
Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☒ Climate Emergency

There is a clear role for planning in delivering against all of the Council’s pillars as established through
the Best Council Plan. At this early stage of preparation, the subject of the LPU could contribute
positively to the Council’s key strategies, as follows:
 Climate Emergency – by managing the transition to zero carbon via policies including:
increasing the energy efficiency of buildings, the design of places, the location of
development, accessibility to public transport, renewable energy supply and storage;
 Health and Well-being Strategy – through people-centred policies including the design of
places, quality of housing and accessibility to green infrastructure and services;
 Inclusive Growth Strategy – through policies including the links between homes and jobs,
the location of development, green infrastructure and connectivity.

Options, timescales and measuring success
What other options were considered?
64. Not progressing the Local Plan Update in the form proposed could result in key policies relating
to the climate emergency being out of date. It would also mean that the Council would not be
maximising opportunities to help address the climate emergency and the ambition to be net
zero carbon by 2030, through Local Plan policies.
65. This consultation was concerned with notifying people about the subject of the Council’s LPU
No. 1 and about what a Plan with that subject ought to contain. The proposed subject was on
the introduction of new and enhancement of existing planning policies to help address the
climate emergency, including policies on carbon reduction, flood risk, green infrastructure,
place-making and sustainable infrastructure. This paper sets out some of the headline
responses from specific consultation bodies, residents and those carrying out business in the
area and the consultation will help inform what reasonable alternatives need to be assessed in
order to progress an appropriate range of planning policies to address the climate emergency.
How will success be measured?
66. Success will be measured by the adoption of a LPU which introduces planning policies that help
address the climate emergency. This paper provides an initial update to the first round of
consultation on the scope of the Local Plan (i.e. its subject and objectives).
What is the timetable for implementation?
67. The Local Plan Update has a provisional timetable of Adoption late 2023. The next key
milestone will be further public consultation on draft planning policies, with a target to bring
these to DPP by Spring 2022.

Page 25

68. A full report of consultation will be provided to DPP in January and at the next stage DPP will
consider the policies to be addressed and reasonable alternatives for each of them as informed
by the consultation, evidence, sustainability appraisal, the requirements of the Habitats
Regulations, cross boundary issues and local, sub-regional, national and international
guidance.
Appendices
69. None
Background papers
70. None

Page 26

Agenda Item 8

Report authors: Abbie Miladinovic
Tel: 0113 37 87260

Update on the HMO, PBSA and Co-Living Amenity
Standards SPD
Date: 2nd November 2021
Report of: Chief Planning Officer
Report to: Development Plan Panel
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Wards affected: All
Have ward members been consulted?

☒ Yes

☐ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions






This report provides an update on the progress of the draft Houses in Multiple Occupation
(HMO), Purpose-Built Student Accommodation (PBSA) and Co-Living Amenity Standards
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). It also seeks to set out the proposed timetable
for progressing the draft SPD to adoption.
The draft SPD will help to deliver on the ambitions of the Best Council Plan (BCP),
particularly relating to housing, by supporting the delivery of the right quality, type, tenure
and affordability of housing, as well as providing improved housing options to more
vulnerable residents, by improving the standards of these types of accommodation in Leeds.
There are also clear links between the draft SPD and BCP objectives regarding health and
wellbeing and supporting safe, strong communities. This is because the SPD seeks to
introduce amenity standards, which will help to drive up housing quality, in line with the
Council’s approach to improving living conditions for Leeds residents.

Recommendations
Members are requested to:
a) Note the progress on the Supplementary Planning Document and the intent to address
comments received as part of the initial consultation (18th January to 1st March 2021);
b) Note the continued work with key stakeholders, including universities and landlord
representatives to remedy concerns raised before further consultation takes place on the draft
Supplementary Planning Document;
c) Note that the co-living section of the Supplementary Planning Document will be removed; and
d) Note that the revised draft Supplementary Planning Document will be presented to
Development Plan Panel in January, before Pre-Adoption Publicity takes place in
January/February 2022.

Page 27

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1. This report provides Development Plan Panel with an update on the progress of the draft HMO,
PBSA and Co-Living Amenity Standards SPD. Initial consultation took place on the draft SPD
between 18th January and 1st March 2021 and this paper gives an overview of the consultation,
highlights a number of key issues for consideration and seeks the views of Development Plan
Panel on a proposed route forward.
Consultation
2. The draft SPD was presented to Development Plan Panel in December 2020, which endorsed
consultation taking place in early 2021. Consultation was undertaken in line with an
engagement plan which accorded with the Council’s Interim Statement of Community
Involvement (SCI), running for 6 weeks between Monday 18th January and Monday 1st March
2021. As well as distribution to the Local Plan database, targeted consultation took place with
the landlord sector (via organisations such as UNIPOL, the Leeds Property Association and the
National Residential Landlords Association) and developers / agents known to be operating in
the PBSA and co-living sectors. The consultation was advertised on the Council’s website and
promoted via social media channels.
3. In total, 65 representations were received, providing over 500 individual comments relating to
the draft SPD. A significant number of the comments related to the HMO section of the
document, raising concerns regarding how the draft SPD relates to separate work programmes
within the Council’s Housing Service, which enforce against the Housing Health and Safety
Rating System (HHSRS) hazards and the existing HMO licensing regime. A summary of the
representations made during the consultation period is provided at Appendix 1. This also sets
out the Council’s initial response and proposed actions in response to the comments received.
4. Since the close of the consultation period, officers have continued to engage informally with the
landlord sector to deal with concerns relating to the status of the SPD and its relationship to
other Council workstreams (as noted above). This has included:
 Meeting with the Leeds Property Association Committee;
 Presenting at a Leeds Property Association Member meeting in May;
 Meetings with UNIPOL; and
 Presenting at a National Residential Landlords Association (NRLA) meeting in October.

Page 28

5. This ongoing engagement has highlighted an opportunity to address some of the concerns
within the landlord sector relating to the SPD by publishing a Frequently Asked Questions
(FAQ) document detailing the status of the SPD, how it will be used, and how it relates to the
work of the Housing service. It is the intention to publish the FAQ alongside the next version of
the draft SPD, which should help to address a number of concerns raised, that don’t relate
directly to the content of the draft SPD itself
6. In addition, continued discussions with UNIPOL have identified an opportunity to bring together
a wider “Student Housing” working group, with representatives of the universities and others
within the sector, to consider issues relating to the student housing sector as a whole, including
PBSA needs over the longer term, anticipated growth in student populations, and affordability
issues. It was initially anticipated that this working group would be convened in August 2021
which would have meant that it could feed into the continued work on the draft SPD. However,
this has not yet taken place, due to COVID related issues and logistics. It is felt that this further
engagement with the student housing sector, including the universities would be beneficial
before the SPD progresses on to the next stage of consultation. Officers will aim for this to take
place in December, to enable the draft SPD to progress through the remaining phases of the
process in early 2022.
Co-Living
7. As set out in the draft SPD and at Development Plan Panel in December 2020, co-living is an
emerging form of purpose-built shared living accommodation which is beginning to gain some
momentum in Core Cities, in particular in Manchester, London and Sheffield. Co-living schemes
are also beginning to emerge in Leeds.
8. During the initial preparation of the SPD, it was considered that the inclusion of co-living would
provide the Council with an opportunity to set out amenity standards for this form of
accommodation. At that time, it was noted that there is a need for further clarity relating to the
strategic policy context, with none of the existing Core Strategy policies explicitly referring to coliving developments.
9. Through further extensive officer discussion and detailed consideration of the issues relating to
emerging co-living proposals in Leeds, in particular how best to utilise existing development
plan policies to deal with future co-living applications, it is recommended that the co-living
chapter is removed from the draft SPD for the following reasons:
 There is a lack of an explicit link back to Policy H9 (which mentions PBSA/HMO specifically),
which is necessary, in order for supplementary planning policies to have the necessary weight;
 There is potential to cause confusion between the policy approach to co-living in general and
the role of the SPD in providing guidance on amenity standards;
 There is an opportunity to use emerging co-living schemes to inform the Council’s
methodology and approach to co-living, including future development plan policy, which would
enable co-living to be captured within the SPD in future;
 By prematurely including co-living standards within the SPD (at a time when the concept is
just evolving), without taking a scheme through the planning process, there is a risk that the
Council is tied into a co-living methodology that may not support the achievement of desired
policy and quality outcomes in practice; and
 Removing co-living from the SPD presents a limited policy risk and securing amenity
standards in co-living developments is supported by using existing development plan policies.

Page 29

10. It is considered that the SPD can be revisited to define explicit amenity standards for co-living
using the learning from early emerging schemes and the proposed policy approach and
following the preparation of Local Plan Update 2.
Next Steps
11. The initial timetable for the SPD was to present the revised “Pre-Adoption” draft SPD to
Development Plan Panel in November 2021. However, in light of the above and to enable
continued engagement to take place with the student housing sector, and to formalise the “decoupling” of the co-living section of the SPD, this interim update paper provides Members with
an opportunity to comment on the proposed route forward for the SPD in advance of publication
for further consultation.
12. A revised “Pre-Adoption” draft SPD will be presented to Development Plan Panel in January
2022, for endorsement for a further 4 weeks of publicity in January / February 2022. Members
are asked to note that anticipated adoption date for the SPD remains unchanged and is
expected in July 2022.
What impact will this proposal have?
13. The progression of the draft SPD will enable the guidance contained within to be used to help
determine planning applications for HMOs and PBSA developments. It will have the effect of
providing supplementary planning guidance available to decision-makers to help secure good
amenity standards in these types of accommodation in future.
14. As noted above, the proposal to present the revised “Pre-Adoption” draft SPD to Development
Plan Panel in January 2022 rather than November 2021 has no impact on the overall target
adoption date for the SPD (July 2022).
What consultation and engagement has taken place?
15. Formal consultation took place between January and March 2021, in line with the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, the Town & Country Planning (Local Planning) (England)
Regulations 2012, and the Council’s Interim Statement of Community Involvement:
https://www.leeds.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/interim-sci.
16. Consultation was online based, with the draft SPD and supporting appendices available on the
Council’s website. Targeting took place with representatives from each of the sectors and
known PBSA and Co-Living developers. The consultation was also advertised on the Council’s
social media channels. Paragraphs 2 – 4 give an overview of the consultation.
17. Since the close of the consultation period, officers have given detailed consideration to the
representations made. A summary of the representations made during the consultation period
is provided at Appendix 1, which also sets out the Council’s initial response and proposed
actions in response to the comments received.
18. Ward Members were notified of the consultation and comments from Members were invited.
19. Further, Pre-Adoption consultation will take place on the draft SPD in January / February 2022.
The draft SPD will be accompanied by a consultation statement, providing details of the
consultation, the representations made, and any changes made to the draft SPD in response to
the representations, as appropriate.
Page 30

What are the resource implications?
20. The preparation of the SPD and consultation on the draft has been accommodated from within
existing provision and falls within the Policy and Plans Group work programme, with no specific
additional resource implications arising.
What are the legal implications?
21. Preparation of the draft SPD has been in accordance the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act 2004, the Town & Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, and the
Council’s Interim Statement of Community Involvement:
https://www.leeds.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/interim-sci
22. The adoption of the SPD falls within the Chief Planning Officer’s scheme of delegation, in
consultation with Development Plan Panel and the Executive Member.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
23. The key risks associated with the preparation of the draft SPD are that it may be subject to
legal challenge. To mitigate against this risk, officers are continuing to engage with
stakeholders to remedy concerns raised regarding the SPD before further consultation takes
place and the SPD progresses to adoption.
Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☐ Climate Emergency

Options, timescales and measuring success
What other options were considered?
24. Not progressing the SPD would mean that the Council does not have any specific
supplementary planning guidance available to help secure amenity within HMOs and PBSA
developments. This would put at risk the Council’s efforts to drive up housing quality in all
sectors and could have detrimental impacts on resident’s health and wellbeing in the future.
How will success be measured?
25. Success will be demonstrated through the implementation and use of the SPD to help
determine planning applications for HMOs and PBSA developments in the future.
What is the timetable for implementation?
26. The timetable for the SPD going forward is as follows:
Timeframe

Action

January 2021

Presentation of revised
Development Plan Panel.

January / February 2022

4-week pre-adoption publicity.

March / April 2022

Analysis of representations and final changes made to SPD
Page 31

“Pre-Adoption”

draft

SPD

to

May / June 2022

Presentation of final draft SPD to Development Plan Panel as
necessary.

July 2022

Adoption of SPD as a material consideration in the
determination of planning applications.

Appendices
27. Appendix 1 provides a summary of the representations made during the consultation period, the
Council’s initial response to the comments raised, and proposed actions.
Background papers
28. None

Page 32

Appendix 1
HMO, PBSA, Co-Living Amenity Standards Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) Initial Consultation (18 January – 1 March 2021)
Summary of Consultation Responses
The Council received 65 representations to the consultation. The representations were submitted by a wide range of stakeholders including
neighbourhood planning groups, residents’ associations, landlords, landlords’ associations and representatives, letting agents, developers,
consultants and architects.
The comments have been broken down into 7 categories:

Page 33









General comments – 145 comments in total
Introductory sections – 13 comments in total
Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) – 196 comments in total
Purpose Built Student Accommodation (PBSA) – 134 comments in total
Co-Living – 20 comments in total*
Appendices – 5 comments in total
No comment – 6 (not shown in table)

Each of the representations has been analysed in detail and the following tables highlight and summarise the points that were raised. Where
representations made similar (sometimes identical) comments on specific issues, these comments have been collated and summarised to
avoid repetition.
For each of the comments, the table sets out the Council’s initial response to the comment raised and the proposed action to be taken in
response.
* Please note that the Council is considering the removal of the Co-living section of the draft SPD to enable further consideration of
co-living as a concept and the appropriate policy response. The representations made in respect of co-living have nevertheless been
acknowledged and responded to, should the Council wish to consider providing guidance on co-living at a future time.

1

Appendix 1
General Comments
General Comments
Comment
Timing of the consultation is inappropriate
given the constraints of the Covid-19
pandemic.

Page 34

The length of the consultation period is too
short to allow for considered responses to be
made.

The draft SPD covers 3 distinct housing
markets which should be dealt with separately
and consulted on separately.

There is no evidence of poor standards and
therefore the SPD is not required.

Initial Response
The Council’s Local Development Scheme directs the
timescales of preparation of Local Development Documents
(LDDs), including the draft SPD. Council services have
continued to operate throughout the pandemic, as have
planning consultations, and consulting during that time is
consistent with that approach. The draft SPD was
considered by Development Plan Panel in December 2020,
alongside an engagement plan, and was endorsed for
consultation. Consultation was undertaken in line with the
Interim Statement of Community Involvement
(https://www.leeds.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/interimsci ) which was updated in January 2021 to enable effective
consultation during the restrictions arising from the onset of
the Covid-19 pandemic. There will be a further round of
consultation on the draft SPD in due course.
The length of the consultation is consistent with other SPD
consultations, in line with the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004, the Town & Country Planning (Local
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, and the Council’s
Interim Statement of Community Involvement:
https://www.leeds.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/interimsci
The Council considers that covering the different forms of
accommodation is appropriate given the nature of the
accommodation, crossover between markets, Core Strategy
Policy H9 being the overarching strategic policy, and
making efficient use of limited Council resources.
The Council has taken a strategic decision to seek to drive
up standards in all sectors, including HMOs, PBSAs and to
establish standards for co-living developments, in line with

Proposed Action
None. Consultation met
legislative requirements and
Interim SCI.

None. Consultation met
legislative requirements and
Interim SCI.

Clarify how the markets for
HMO and PBSA and CoLiving* are linked within the
SPD and explain why they
are captured within the
same document.
Clarify the justification and
reasoning for the
preparation of the SPD.
2

Appendix 1
Best Council Plan ambitions. One of the Council’s Key
Pillars is Health and Wellbeing and Housing is known to be
a key determinant of health. The SPD is therefore
contextualised within a broader approach and ambition of
the Council.

Page 35

The aspiration to improve living standards
within the SPD is supported and the
detrimental impact of poor quality
accommodation on health and wellbeing is
recognised.
Landlords have not been adequately consulted
or encouraged to respond to the consultation.
This could undermine the relationship that the
student PRS sector has with the Council. A
letter should have been sent to all landlords on
the HMO register.

Social media should have been used to
promote the SPD consultation.

The Council should hold follow up meetings
with each of the three sectors.

In addition, in February 2021, the Environment, Housing
and Communities scrutiny board report considered a paper
on private sector housing conditions and the quality of
accommodation, noting at para 3.10 that space continues to
be a major issue within the HMO sector.
Noted.

Consultation has been undertaken in line with the Planning
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and the Town &
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations
2012, and the Council’s Interim Statement of Community
Involvement: https://www.leeds.gov.uk/planning/planningpolicy/interim-sci
In addition, landlords and their representatives, such as
Unipol, the Leeds Property Association and the National
Residential Landlords Association (NRLA) were targeted as
part of the consultation period. It would not be resource
effective for the Council to write to all 3,000+ landlords on
the HMO Register.
Social media was used to promote the consultation. See
consultation report for full details of consultation methods.

The Council has continued to engage (informally) with
representatives of each of the sectors as part of the work to
progress the SPD.

None. This comment
supports the Council’s
approach.

None. Consultation met
legislative requirements and
Interim SCI.

Continue to make use of
social media to promote preadoption publicity on the
draft SPD in due course.
Continue to engage with
representatives of the
sectors as part of the
3

Appendix 1

There is a need to ensure that all residents in
Leeds have a high standard of
accommodation.
The SPD will limit the supply of student
housing.

Space and amenity standards for these types
of accommodation should reflect existing size
requirements for flats and houses.

Page 36

There appears to be an assumption that all
students are single, whereas many may well
be married and/or have children that will have
specific housing needs – PBSA may not be
suitable put they may potentially reside in
HMOs or Co-living developments.
The SPD distracts from wider Council
aspirations regarding carbon reduction which
will already be costly for landlords and
ultimately tenants.
The standards in the SPD do not apply to
owner-occupied housing.

There are references to management in
relation to each of the three types of
accommodation, but not all under a specific

Noted.

upcoming consultation
period.
None. This comment agrees
with the Council’s approach.

The SPD acknowledges that introducing space standards
may reduce the amount of bedrooms that can be
accommodated within HMOs, however this will be minimal
and the need for a high standard of accommodation for all
residents, including HMO tenants, is a priority for the
Council.
The proposed SPD standards do reflect existing size
requirements for typical residential dwellings, as set out in
the Nationally Described Space Standards, which are part
of the Development Plan for Leeds through Core Strategy
Policy H9.
Noted. The vast majority of the student population in Leeds
will make use of single-person rooms however the need to
provide a wider range is acknowledged.

None. The Council does not
consider that the SPD will
significantly inhibit the
supply of student housing.

The SPD is part of the Council’s approach to driving up
housing quality in the city, in line with Best Council Plan
ambitions.

None. The preparation of the
SPD is in support of the
Council’s ambition to drive
up housing quality across all
sectors.
Clarify the role of Policy H9
within the introductory text to
the draft SPD.

Development providing new housing (C3 – residential
dwelling houses) is required to comply with the Nationally
Described Space Standards, which are part of the
Development Plan for Leeds through Core Strategy Policy
H9.
Not all of the management elements described are within
the scope of the SPD but it is acknowledged that having a
distinct “management” section for each of the different types

Clarify the relationship
between Nationally
Described Space Standards
and standards proposed
through the SPD.
Consider the opportunity for
widening the scope of the
standards proposed through
the SPD to cover 2-person /
family accommodation

Consolidate management
considerations for each of
the types of accommodation
4

Appendix 1

Page 37

Management heading. Management of HMOs
of accommodation would be beneficial, signposting to other
is particularly important in respect of waste
areas of planning policy and guidance as appropriate.
organisation, keeping gardens tidy and
properties well-maintained. Management of
PBSA should include those as well as
arrangements for deliveries, beginning and end
of term local disruption and congestion,
guidance to student residents on being good
neighbours. Management proposals should be
in included as part of a planning application,
backed up by planning obligation agreements.
A section on management for each type should
be expanded to give guidance on all the issues
that should be included in a management
agreement.
The SPD should also make reference to the
The need for cross-referencing is recognised.
need to take account of applicable policies and
guidance in relevant Neighbourhood Plans
and/or Conservation Areas
The SPD is unsound for the following reasons:
 It is not justified by appropriate
evidence
 It is not guidance but in fact seeks to
set overly prescriptive standards
 It will undermine the delivery of LCC’s
vision of providing for the City’s housing
needs in sustainable locations
The SPD should be justified by the following:
 Need
 Viability
 Timing

SPDs are not required to satisfy the tests of soundness. The
Council considers that the SPD is based on appropriate
evidence.
The weight to be attached to the SPD as a material
consideration is clarified within the document.
The Council does not consider that the SPD will undermine
delivery, rather will improve quality and drive up standards.
Need and justification for the SPD is set out in the
document. Viability testing is not a requirement of SPD
preparation. Timing is considered to be appropriate.

into a “management”
section, signposting to other
planning policy and
guidance as appropriate.

Provide reference to
neighbourhood plans and
Conservation Area
Appraisals and Management
Plans as appropriate.
Consider clarity of
references to SPD status
and clarify the justification
and reasoning for the
preparation of the SPD.

Clarify the justification and
reasoning for the
preparation of the SPD.

5

Appendix 1

Page 38

There should be a transition period for the
application of the policy to allow for market
adjustment which will allow developers to
factor in the cost of space standards into future
land acquisitions.
The Core Strategy Selective Review commits
the Council to preparing guidance, rather than
the prescriptive standards set out in the SPD.
As City Centre retailing contracts and central
office buildings become vacant, many cities
have found that conversion to student
accommodation has stopped high levels of
vacant buildings and dereliction: these risks
are high in Leeds and these standards would
stop that productive evolution.
The proposed standards show limited
understanding of the student market, the
needs of students or what is possible within the
existing housing stock in inner Leeds.

As the SPD progresses towards adoption by the Council, it
will attract more weight in the decision-making process,
giving a de-facto transitional period.

None. There is a de-facto
transitional period as the
SPD progresses and attracts
further weight.

The SPD does provide guidance.

Consider clarity of
references to SPD status.

The Council does not consider that the SPD would provide
an impediment to city centre delivery, rather will serve to
improve the quality of accommodation.

None. The Council does not
consider that the SPD will
inhibit delivery.

The Council has developed a thorough understanding of the
PBSA market, in recent years, which has enabled and
supported the development of the draft SPD.

At present, the majority of PBSA is used to
house primarily first year and international,
students, but this will have to change to house
returning students. At present rents (…) in
PBSA are approximately 50% higher than in
off-street housing – so future affordability is
important.
The consultation document is based on
inappropriate background material.
Recognised material is available and has been
produced by Unipol:
 https://www.hepi.ac.uk/2020/08/06/stud
ent-accommodation-the-facts/
 https://www.unipol.org.uk/getmedia/ead
8ba2b-d770-4127-83e2-

Affordability is not within the scope of the SPD, although the
Council recognises this is an important consideration for
many students.
As part of the Local Plan Update 2 (due to commence in line
with the Local Development Scheme), the Council may
consider an update to affordable housing policy depending
on the scope of the plan.
Additional evidence base material is helpful.

None. The Council has a
sound understanding of the
student market and is
committed to continuing to
work with stakeholders.
None. Affordability is not
within the scope of the SPD,
though there is an
acknowledged need to
consider affordability issues
more broadly.
Review additional evidence
base material as
appropriate.

6

Appendix 1
0dc93835e2d8/AccommodationCostSu
rvey_2018_FullReport_WEB.PDF.aspx
This SPD should be more explicit about how it
relates to other SPDs and other Policies of the
statutory Development Plan. If necessary,
further consultation should be offered in
respect of these revisions in due course.

Further consultation will take place on the draft SPD in due
course.

Clarify how SPD relates to
other SPDs and the
Development Plan for
Leeds.

Page 39
7

Appendix 1
Introductory Sections
Introductory Sections
Comment
Clarity needed on how Best Council Plan
objectives relate to the objectives of the SPD.
The references to the historical background of
space and design standards provide useful
context and demonstrate how their importance
has been overlooked.
The SPD should aim to have better than
“good” standards of accommodation.

Page 40

The development plan for Leeds section
contains contradictory/confusing information as
point 5.22 states “development of student
accommodation and houses in multiple
occupation will not be subject to the space
standards as set out in the Table. Instead,
such development should reflect the NDSS
with appropriate adjustments to address the
particular characteristics of these types of
development”. However, point 6.1 states
“HMOs are not subject to the NDSS
requirements in Core Strategy Policy H9”.
Para 5.2.2.should clarify that NDSS
requirements in Policy H9 do not apply to coliving developments.

Response
The wording does contextualise the ambition of the SPD in
relation to Best Council Plan objectives in Section 3.2 Leeds
City Council Priorities.
Noted.

Proposed Action
Clarify how the objectives of
the SPD relate to the Best
Council Plan Objectives.
None. This comment
supports the Council’s
approach.

The draft SPD seeks to achieve a balance between what is
desirable and what is achievable and deliverable. At
present, there are many properties that may fall well below
the definition of ‘good’ and if, through the SPD, the
standards in some of those properties can achieve that
benchmark, this would be a significant improvement. The
proposed standards within the SPD are minima and they do
not prevent proposals from exceeding those standards.
The NDSS requirements do not apply to HMOs, as noted in
Policy H9 of the Core Strategy. However, the Core Strategy
establishes an appropriate methodology regarding using the
NDSS as a starting point, with “appropriate adjustments”.

Clarify the role of the
standards as “minima” within
the draft SPD.

Review and clarify
references to the Core
Strategy as appropriate.

It is not within the scope of the SPD to amend wording with
the Leeds Core Strategy.

Noted.

Consider and clarify
relationship between NDSS
and co-living developments.*

8

Appendix 1
Para 4.3 should acknowledge the fact that
planning applications should be determined in
accordance with the development plan “unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.”

Noted.

Clarify reference as
appropriate.

Page 41
9

Appendix 1
Houses in Multiple Occupation
Houses in Multiple Occupation
Comment
Clarity is needed on when the SPD will apply:
 Are HMOs created through permitted
development rights exempt?
 Will the SPD be taken into account for
certificates of lawful use?
 It should be made clear that the
standards apply to changes of use and
conversions to HMOs and that “new
HMOs” do not just include new build
schemes (paras 2.2.3 and 7.1.2).

Page 42
HMO standards are unnecessary as legislation
and powers already exist to allow local
authorities to enforce higher standards such as
the Housing Act 2004, Homes Fitness for
Habitation Act 2018, and other related
legislation.
The SPD standards would restrict the supply of
HMO accommodation which could lead to a

Response
The guidance within the SPD will apply to full or outline
planning applications for new HMO accommodation, new
PBSA developments and new Co-Living developments.

Proposed Action
Clarify within the HMO
section as to when the
proposed HMO standards
will / won’t apply.

As the SPD progresses, it will gain more weight in the
determination of planning applications. However, the SPD
will only have full weight in decision making when it has been
formally adopted.
The SPD will not apply to:
o

new HMO Licensing Applications, as this is
dealt with under separate legislation; or

o

applications for Certificates of Lawful
Development for HMOs, as these
applications serve to regularise the lawful
use of an existing HMO, rather than new
HMO accommodation; or

o

HMOs created through Permitted
Development Rights.

The Housing Act 2004 and other relevant legislation enable
the Council to enforce against hazards which can lead to
harm, in effect a “minimum”. This does not reflect the
Council’s aspirations for all residents in Leeds to have
access to a good standard of accommodation, regardless of
type or tenure. The SPD supports this to be achieved
through the planning process.
The SPD acknowledges that this may have a minor impact
on bedroom availability in future HMO developments. It is

Clarify the Council’s
aspirations regarding
housing quality as set out
within the Best Council Plan.

None. The Council does not
consider that the SPD will
10

Appendix 1
spread in HMOs across a wider area and
would be unsustainable. This would have a
detrimental impact on the local economy.
Students do not spend all of their time in their
student houses and the SPD standards should
take this into account.

Page 43

Clarity is needed on bathroom sizes / en-suite
sizes, the need for a ‘drying / dressing zone’
and there should be a requirement for a ‘family’
bathroom. Up to 8 and 11+ should include a
separate toilet.
The bathroom requirements are insufficient for
the expected occupancy levels, should
accommodate a mix of bathrooms and shower
rooms, and take gender into account.
The tables on bathroom and WC sizes are
unclear – the suggested floor areas seem to be
excessive.
The shared facility requirements should be
cumulative to account for variances in room
sizes (e.g. the living room may be slightly
smaller, but the kitchen might be slightly
larger). The SPD should also account for
spaces that are significantly larger than the
required standards or where there two amenity
spaces which could meet or exceed the
standards.
The standards should include some flexibility
and account for potential off-setting within the
amenity space.
The standards should take into account the
global amenity space provided and use a

not within the scope of the SPD to retrospectively enforce
standards to HMOs that already benefit from planning
permission. In this way, the SPD would have no impact on
existing HMO supply.
The SPD acknowledges that students may use their
accommodation differently to long-term residents. However,
not all HMO tenants are students and the SPD has no
scope to distinguish between the two.
Bathroom sizes/requirements have been informed by the
HQI system.

significantly inhibit the
supply of student housing.

Bathroom sizes/requirements have been informed by the
HQI system.

Reconsider and clarify
bathroom size requirements
in SPD.

Bathroom sizes/requirements have been informed by the
HQI system.

Reconsider and clarify
bathroom size requirements
in SPD.
Consider opportunities for
capturing “global space” as
part of provision of shared
spaces.

Noted.

Noted.

Noted.

None. The Council cannot
distinguish between different
forms of HMO provision
through the SPD.
Reconsider and clarify
bathroom size requirements
in SPD.

Consider opportunities for
capturing “global space” as
part of provision of shared
spaces.
Consider opportunities for
capturing “global space” as
11

Appendix 1
whole house approach rather than on a roomby-room basis.
The room size requirements are too detailed.
Facilities should be judged on a space and
layout perspective rather than on a prescriptive
number, taking into account quality, amenity
and finish.
The additional 1sqm per person for shared
facilities is inconsistent with the figures in the
table.

Page 44

The communal/shared facilities sizes are too
large, HMO communal space does not need to
be larger as tenants will use the facilities at
different times of day and will spend more time
in bedrooms. The requirements would affect
commercial viability and could lead to a
reduction in larger HMOs which would lead to
a shortage of student accommodation.

The bed-sitting room requirements do not take
into account the age and the size of the likely
HMO stock.
The size standards (in general) are
unachievable in much of the older housing
stock.
The minimum bedroom size of 7.5sqm for a
single or 11sqm for a double is unjustified
when the minimum bedroom size HMO
Licensing guidance is 6.51 sqm
The definition of a single room and double
room is confusing. Does a single room mean

Noted.

It is considered that for HMOs with high occupancies it is
unlikely that all residents will use the space at the same
time, and so the 1sqm additional requirement is felt to be
proportionate.
The SPD recognises that not all HMO residents are likely to
use shared facilities at the same time, and that this
likelihood decreases as occupancy is increased. However, it
is still necessary to provide sufficient space within shared
facilities to ensure appropriate provision for residents.
The SPD does not apply retrospectively to HMOs that
benefit from planning permission and therefore the existing
stock of HMOs is unlikely to decrease as a result of the
SPD.
Noted.

Noted.

Licensing requirements represent the absolute minimum.
This does not reflect the Council’s aspirations for all
residents in Leeds to have access to a good standard of
accommodation, regardless of type or tenure. The SPD
supports this to be achieved through the planning process.
The HMO Licensing process is separate to the SPD
preparation. Anticipated occupancy (persons) will need to

part of provision of shared
spaces.
Consider level of
prescription appropriate to
SPD guidance and
opportunities for capturing
quality aspirations alongside
space.
Consider and clarify shared
space provision
expectations and
justifications.
Consider and clarify shared
space provision
expectations and
justifications.

Consider room size
requirements against likely
stock.
Consider room size
requirements against likely
stock.
None. The SPD is not
related to licensing
requirements.

Clarify occupancy
expectations.
12

Appendix 1

Page 45

that it contains a single bed only? Does it
become a double room when it contains a
double bed, even though it is occupied by a
single person? In 5+ beds HMOs, the
occupancy is determined by the License
granted/issued by LCC not by bedroom sizes
nor size of beds.
Light standards may be difficult to achieve
within existing housing stock and guidance is
needed on how this will be implemented. This
is particularly the case for potential historic
buildings so there is a need to clarify that
window enlargement / raising window heights
is not appropriate in all circumstances.
Light and outlook requirements are too vague
and difficult to determine. Clarity is needed on
how “good” is to be interpreted. The SPD
should encourage the best use of available
sunlight.
The guidance should make clear that where
measures to address light are not appropriate
then the use of a room as living
accommodation would not be acceptable.
Evidence is needed to support ventilation
requirements.

be set out at planning application stage, as it is with Policy
H9 of the Core Strategy.

The light requirements should acknowledge
the potential benefits of roof windows.

Noted.

The SPD does recognise that solutions may not be
appropriate in all circumstances.

Clarify flexibility regarding
light standards for historic
buildings and recognise that
solutions may not be
appropriate in all
circumstances.

The need for clarity is recognised.

Clarify expectations
regarding light and outlook
interpretation.

This is a consideration within the draft SPD.

Consider clarifying
habitability of rooms
regarding light and outlook.

Ventilation requirements are linked to existing Building
Regulations requirements.

None. Ventilation
requirements would exist
irrespective of the SPD and
the document provides
signposting as needed.
Consider clarifying benefits
of roof windows, noting that
this solution may not be
appropriate in all
circumstances.

13

Appendix 1

Page 46

The minimum bedroom sizes are inadequate
for study / leisure activity to take place within
the room
The SPD should also include standards for
outdoor communal spaces, including the
number of bins / bin storage and car parking
arrangements – determined by the number of
occupants
The requirement for bedrooms to be no more
than 1 floor away from bedrooms is unjustified
and does not take into account the
configuration of the stock (e.g. HMOs are likely
to be across more than 1 floor).
The requirement for additional kitchens may
cause fire hazards and require additional fire
protection measures and would be unworkable
in terms of the electricity supply.
The impact of HMOs in local neighbourhoods
should be taken into account.

Every tenant within a HMO should have their
own living room / bedroom, separate kitchen
and a separate bathroom to allow residents’
privacy. The requirement to share facilities is
inappropriate and Leeds should be seeking
higher standards.

There should be a presumption of refusal in
areas with large amounts of HMOs.

The proposed sizes seek to accommodate the various living
functions within bedrooms.

Consider study/leisure
activity within rooms.

This may extend beyond the scope of the SPD however
signposting to other policy and guidance may be
appropriate.

Consider signposting to
other policy and guidance as
appropriate.

This guidance is intended to ensure that residents do not
need to travel long distances with hot food. The need to
align to existing guidance relating to availability of dining
space within 1 floor is recognised.

Clarify 1-storey requirement
application to where no
dining space is provided.

It was not the intention of the draft SPD to introduce new
kitchens on upper floors (where dining space is provided.

Clarify 1-storey requirement
application to where no
dining space is provided.

Impacts are covered within Core Strategy Policy H6 and the
HMO Practice Note:
https://www.leeds.gov.uk/planning/planningpermission/how-we-decide-on-planning-permission-forhmos. Signposting to other policy and guidance may be
appropriate.
HMOs are recognised as an important part of the housing
market, both for students and for those on low incomes. To
mandate private accommodation on the scale as suggested
would take HMOs from a C4/sui generis into a C3 dwelling
use, at which point the NDSS requirements would apply.
The aim of the SPD is to support higher quality HMO
provision, recognising the role that they play in the Leeds
housing market.
This is not within the scope of the SPD. The Council has
existing policy in place, including Core Strategy Policy H6,
the Article 4 Direction Area and the HMO practice note:
https://www.leeds.gov.uk/planning/planning-

Consider signposting to
existing policy and guidance
as appropriate.

None. The Council
recognises the function of
HMOs as a tenure within
overall housing provision in
Leeds.

Consider signposting to
existing policy and guidance
as appropriate.

14

Appendix 1
permission/how-we-decide-on-planning-permission-forhmos. Signposting to other policy and guidance may be
appropriate.
The Council considers that rent levels for HMO
accommodation are determined on tenant affordability. It is
not considered that the SPD will have a direct impact on
existing HMO affordability in Leeds as the SPD cannot
apply retrospectively to HMOs that already benefit from
planning permission.

Page 47

The requirements of the SPD will have a
detrimental impact on the affordability of HMO
accommodation and could lead to ‘pricing out’
of students which would not complement the
Vision for Leeds to be open and fair. The
option of a smaller/cheaper room within a HMO
offers groups to share the affordability of the
HMO whilst retaining a choice over where to
live. The potential impact on affordability due to
the need for larger rooms may remove choice
within the student market, particularly as much
of the PBSA accommodation is unaffordable.
Leeds City Council is using the SPD to
The Council recognises that HMOs are an important part of
discourage new HMOs.
the housing market, for students, those on low incomes and
those wishing to share, perhaps because they are new to
the city. The aim of the SPD is to support higher quality
HMO provision, recognising the role that they play in the
Leeds housing market.
The HMO Licensing team are using (or are
The draft SPD does not relate to HMO licensing
intending to use) the standards within the SPD applications.
to justify refusal of licensing applications.
Clarity is needed on the distinction between
The progression of the two pieces of guidance are
guidance being prepared by the Private Sector complementary but are not directly linked. The guidance
Housing team and the provisions with the SPD. prepared by the Private Sector Housing team relates to the
enforcement of HHSRS, the draft SPD relates to the
determination of future planning applications for HMO
accommodation.
To ensure existing HMOs comply with the SPD The SPD cannot apply retrospectively to HMOs that already
requirements would be costly for landlords and benefit from planning permission.
could lead to an increase in vacancies.

None. Affordability is not
within the scope of the SPD,
though there is an
acknowledged need to
consider affordability issues
more broadly.

None. The Council
recognises the function of
HMOs as a tenure within
overall housing provision in
Leeds.
Clarify within the HMO
section as to when the
proposed HMO standards
will / won’t apply.
Clarify within the HMO
section as to when the
proposed HMO standards
will / won’t apply and how
the SPD relates to other
LCC guidance.
Clarify within the HMO
section as to when the
proposed HMO standards
will / won’t apply.
15

Appendix 1
The SPD should not be used to retrospectively
enforce standards.

The SPD cannot be used to retrospectively enforce
standards on HMOs that already benefit from planning
permission.

Any en-suite shower rooms should be
externally ventilated through windows/extractor
fans.
The implementation of the standards would
represent an unwarranted cost for landlords
due to lost bedpsaces (which would lead to lost
income), plus potential alteration costs.
The SPD should have regard to the future use
of such buildings should there be conversions
away from HMO use.

Noted.

Page 48

Whilst there are some negative impacts of
HMOs, they also bring benefits to the area and
to the students themselves.

The outdoor amenity requirement is unrealistic
for the older terraced housing stock.
Outdoor amenity space should be required.
The section on how/where the guidance
applies would be better at the beginning of the
section.
Social housing standards are not appropriate
for HMO accommodation.

There are differences within the HMO market
itself – e.g. student HMOs and others. A
specific standard should be used for each

The SPD cannot apply retrospectively to HMOs that already
benefit from planning permission.
The Council’s policy approach through Core Strategy Policy
H6 (and existing Permitted Development Rights) support
flexibility regarding future uses of HMOs, for example
conversion to family accommodation.
Noted.

Noted.
The SPD does clarify that outdoor amenity provision is
expected.
Noted.

The Council has taken a strategic decision to drive up
housing quality in all sectors and has used available
evidence from different sectors to determine appropriate
standards.
The SPD cannot distinguish between different sub-sectors
within the HMO market as there is no Use Class Order
distinction between student/non-student HMOs.

Clarify within the HMO
section as to when the
proposed HMO standards
will / won’t apply.
Consider clarifying
ventilation requirements for
en-suite shower rooms.
Clarify within the HMO
section as to when the
proposed HMO standards
will / won’t apply.
None. Existing policy
provides a framework for
consideration of conversion
away from HMO uses.
None. The Council
recognises the function of
HMOs as a tenure within
overall housing provision in
Leeds.
Consider clarifying outdoor
amenity considerations.
Consider clarifying outdoor
amenity considerations.
Consider repositioning
section on when/how the
guidance will apply within
revised draft SPD.
Clarify methodology and use
of varying inputs to support
proposed standards.
Consider recognition of
different sub-sectors within
HMO market in introductory
16

Appendix 1
individual sector which adequately takes into
consideration the different requirements of
each group.

Page 49

The Unipol and LUU Rate Your Landlord
scheme demonstrates high levels of
satisfaction in the student housing sector,
suggesting that there is no need for the SPD.

Not all HMO tenants are students and the Council
recognises the importance of Unipol/LUU standards in the
providing assurance in the student sector. The SPD cannot
distinguish between different sub-sectors within the HMO
market as there is no Use Class Order distinction between
student/non-student HMOs.

References and justification should be
provided to demonstrate how current HMO
standards are not being met, and why HHSRS
powers are inadequate to deal with the current
problems.

The Council considers that HHSRS represents a “minimum”
which would need to be enforced against if a hazard was
identified. This does not reflect the Council’s aspirations for
all residents in Leeds to have access to a good standard of
accommodation, regardless of type or tenure. The SPD
supports this to be achieved through the planning process.
The methodology is set out in the SPD.

The HMO section does not have a clear
methodology as to how the standards have
been arrived at.
Some students prefer to have smaller rooms
which are 1) more affordable and 2) offer
choice.
There is no minimum size detailed for open
plan kichen/living/dining spaces which are
increasingly common in HMOs
It is unclear within the SPD whether there will
be a judgement on what is ‘usable space’
which is important as many properties have
attic bedrooms with sloping ceilings.
The en-suite bathroom requirements are
unachievable in HMOs. Many landlords have
added these following the influence of PBSA

sections, acknowledging
quality within student sector.
Re-iterate that SPD cannot
distinguish between
student/non-student HMOs.
Consider recognition of
different sub-sectors within
HMO market in introductory
sections, acknowledging
quality within student sector.
Re-iterate that SPD cannot
distinguish between
student/non-student HMOs.
None. HHSRS and its
implementation are separate
to the draft SPD which
serves a different purpose.

Revisit and clarify
methodology.

This should not undermine the standard of living – the
proposed standards should apply irrespective of
affordability.
Noted.

None. Affordability should
not automatically lead to
smaller room sizes.
Consider and clarify open
plan spaces as appropriate.

Noted.

Clarify definitions of useable
space consistent with NDSS
definitions.

Noted.

Consider bathroom
requirements (e.g. bathroom

17

Appendix 1
and this is popular, but this would likely
decrease if standards were introduced as they
would render both the bedroom and en suite
too small in the majority of properties.
We welcome the proposals with regard to
future new HMO developments and alterations
to existing HMO properties. The measures in
SPD would benefit both tenants and
neighbours in the future.
Many student HMOs (approx. 80%) are
registered with a recognised accreditation
scheme which already helps to provide higher
standards and accountability.

Page 50

The improvement of light penetration in
basements would be supported to avoid
inappropriate use of basements in certain
property types.

“pods”) which have a smaller
floorspace requirement.

Noted.

None. This comment
supports the Council’s
approach.

Not all HMO tenants are students and the Council
recognises the importance of Unipol/LUU standards in the
providing assurance in the student sector. The SPD cannot
distinguish between different sub-sectors within the HMO
market as there is no Use Class Order distinction between
student/non-student HMOs.

Consider recognition of
different sub-sectors within
HMO market in introductory
sections, acknowledging
quality within student sector.
Re-iterate that SPD cannot
distinguish between
student/non-student HMOs.
Clarify further the
expectations for light
penetration into
basements/subterranean
accommodation.

Section 7.4 sets out the approach to light in HMOs and
seeks to ensure that all habitable rooms have access to a
good level of natural daylight. Para 7.4.3 clarifies that
basement or other subterranean accommodation is often
difficult to accommodate and where this is proposed it is
particularly important that sufficient light penetration is
achieved.

18

Appendix 1
Purpose Built Student Accommodation
Purpose Built Student Accommodation
Comment
As a minimum, PBSA bedspaces should
provide enough space for a bed, storage, work
space, food preparation, bathroom, and
socialising space. The wider building should
provide communal space to allow for social
interaction.
The SPD should detail how communal space
should be laid out or provided (e.g. a mix of
different types of communal space) which
should also include external communal areas.

Response
The draft SPD sets out how this provision is to be achieved
and the distribution of private/shared space within a PBSA
scheme.

Proposed Action
None. The SPD sets this
out.

The draft SPD sets out how this provision is to be achieved
and the distribution of communal space within a PBSA
scheme.

Page 51

Communal space should be adequately
ventilated.

Section 9.7 sets out ventilation standards for PBSA
schemes, which would include communal space.

The SPD should cross-reference the Tall
Buildings SPD in relation to PBSA.

Noted.

The SPD references the emerging Leeds
Transport SPD, however these do not take into
account the ‘car-free’ characteristics of PBSA
development. There should be a recognition of
the impact that this has e.g. greater use of
taxis, delivery vehicles, with the requirement
for specific highways arrangements to
accommodate this.
PBSA management plans should have a
beginning / end of term plan for arrivals and
departures, to avoid congestion.

Traffic impacts of PBSA are not within the scope of the
SPD. Further clarification of transport/traffic expectations
should be pursued through the ongoing work to update and
re-publish the draft Leeds Transport SPD.

Clarify that PBSA
developments should
provide a mix of communal
spaces which serve different
functions.
None. Ventilation
requirements cover
communal space.
Provide cross-reference to
Tall Buildings SPD in
relation to PBSAs.
None. Pass on information
to Highways service
regarding transport/traffic
issues in relation to PBSA.

Traffic impacts are not within scope of the SPD. Further
clarification of transport/traffic expectations should be
pursued through the ongoing work to update and re-publish
the draft Leeds Transport SPD.
The typology of student accommodation and
The SPD cannot preclude particular forms of provision from
variety of room offer has developed beyond the coming forward, however it is recognised that it should

None. Pass on information
to Highways service
regarding transport/traffic
issues in relation to PBSA.
Clarify how the standards in
the SPD would apply to
19

Appendix 1

Page 52

cluster and studio offering. Two and three bed
apartments have been developed with one and
two bathrooms respectively which represents a
gap in the current SPD guidance and would
make bringing schemes of this nature forward
difficult in future.
The SPD should not reference Building
Regulations numerical values which may be
subject to change – it should say that Building
Regulations requirements should be delivered.

provide guidance that is flexible enough to suit different
circumstances.

different forms of provision,
e.g. 2/3 bed apartments.

The need for future-proofing is recognised.

Proposed cluster and studio bathroom size is
in excess of standard arrangements which
adequately provide a WC, basin, shower and
storage. This should be more flexible and
recognise schemes that have delivered smaller
than the proposed standard.

The use of standard-sized PBSA bathroom “pods” is
recognised.

Accessible room and studio sizes are
governed by the Building Regulations
requirements so should be silent on a number.

Noted.

18sqm studio apartments can be delivered to
suit the requirements of one person. A
minimum of 20sqm could be accepted however
it could add undue burden to scheme viability
to increase beyond this.
Shared internal spaces for PBSA are higher
than necessary and do not account for kitchen
and furniture provision within the space. A
more proportionate approach would be a

The SPD takes a range-based approach to PBSA room
sizes to allow for flexibility in provision, recognising the
importance of having access to high quality communal
spaces alongside bedroom spaces.

Seek to future-proof
references to Building Regs
to help ensure that the SPD
does not become out of
date.
Revise proposed bathroom
size standards in recognition
of standard size pods that
have been delivered in
Leeds.
Consider bathroom
requirements (e.g. bathroom
“pods”) which have a smaller
floorspace requirement.
Re-consider approach to
Accessible Room and Studio
Sizes in PBSA to provide
consistency with Building
Regulations.
None. The proposed
standards have inherent
flexibility.

The proposed standards for shared spaces in PBSA
developments are considered to be sufficient to provide
good quality living space for students.

Clarify methodology for
shared spaces in PBSA
developments.

20

Appendix 1

Page 53

combination of space standard (4-5sqm) with
furniture provision.
The 10sqm distance requirement would limit
the cluster flat arrangement and does not take
into account the layout of flats. This should be
more flexible in recognition that this distance
could be easily exceeded beyond 4-bed cluster
flats (or due to the constraints of an existing
building). This does not impact on
amenity/wellbeing and should state that is
‘desirable’ rather than a requirement.
The target of 1sqm general communal space is
excessive and does not reflect the accepted
standards set out in the appendices. The need
for the space depends on the ratio of cluster /
studios and depends on the functionality of the
space provided.
Light standards - there are inevitable
compromises to be made on city centre
schemes.
Reference to the 25 degree rule should be
clarified.
It is difficult to provide external amenity space
on city centre schemes and the 25% total floor
area requirement is unrealistic , excessive and
unachievable. This should be balanced within
overall amenity provision. A sqm/bedspace
requirement may be more appropriate.
The range based approach is supported,
however the ability to achieve the prescriptive
space standards may vary on a site-by-site
basis and will need to have regard to existing
built development and take into account the
specific constraints of potentially sensitive
development sites (e.g. heritage). The SPD

The main objective is to ensure that residents do not need
to travel long distances with hot food for health and safety
reasons. The need for flexibility which provides for delivery
is recognised.

Clarify expectation for
distances to rooms.

The 1sqm general communal space requirement reflects the
quality of schemes accepted and expected in Leeds. The
need for shared amenity space exists irrespective of
studio/cluster provision to provide opportunities for
socialising.

Clarify methodology for
general communal space
requirement.

This is recognised and the SPD provides a flexible
approach recognising the particularities of City Centre
schemes.
Noted.

Clarify the need for flexibility
regarding light in City
Centre.
Clarify references to 25/45
degree rule.
Consider revision to external
amenity space requirements
and balance within overall
provision.

This expectation is a starting point and this would need to
be consistent with Policies G4 and G5.

The range based approach is by definition flexible. All
applications will be judged on their own merits and there will
be a need for flexibility to address particular site constraints
or considerations.

Consider introduction of
flexibility for particular site
constraints (where
exceptions are necessary).

21

Appendix 1

Page 54

should therefore incorporate a greater degree
of flexibility in applying the standards and be
more responsive to the specific site
circumstances. Para 9.3.4 should therefore be
amended to acknowledge the application of the
standards should be achieved in most
circumstances, however there may be some
exceptions (where it is not feasible or viable).
Applications should be judged on their merits
and demonstrate a high standard of living can
be achieved.
In respect of communal space the SPD should
incorporate a greater degree of flexibility,
recognising that site-specific constraints may
constrain the ability of a development to fully
comply with the standards in full. Applications
should be judged on their merits and
demonstrate a high standard of living can be
achieved.
The requirement for cluster flats not to be more
than 8 bed spaces should provide for a more
flexible approach provided that they can
achieve a good standard of amenity.
PBSA developers have been looking at how
best to deliver more affordable student
accommodation (which is currently quite
unaffordable) – high standards for room sizes
will result in increased construction costs /
fewer bedroom units which will lead to higher
rents. This could put potential developers off
from progressing further projects in Leeds as it
may lead to under-occupancy.
PBSA developments in Leeds in recent years
already achieve a high standard of amenity.

The range based approach is by definition flexible. All
applications will be judged on their own merits and there will
be a need for flexibility to address particular site constraints
or considerations.

Consider introduction of
flexibility for particular site
constraints (where
exceptions are necessary).

Larger cluster flats are not considered to provide a good
level of amenity or contribute positive to health and
wellbeing however the need to provide flexibility is
recognised.
Affordability is recognised as a key concern and part of the
Local Plan Update 2 (due to commence in line with the
Local Development Scheme), the Council may consider an
update to affordable housing policy depending on the scope
of the plan.

Reconsider approach to size
of cluster flat arrangements.

This is recognised and the standards proposed in the draft
SPD seek to reflect this.

Recognise the quality of
developments in Leeds and

None. Affordability is an
important consideration but
is outside of the scope of the
draft SPD.

22

Appendix 1

Page 55

The PBSA should focus solely on the PBSA
development business model and which has
negative financial impacts on the city as a
whole, by introducing a 50% Council Tax for
the PBSA sector.
The section on how/where the guidance
applies would be better at the beginning of the
section.

Not within the scope of the SPD.

The standards should be based on a firm
figure at the higher end of the range, then
negotiated lower. The requirement for ‘a
demonstrably high standard’ to justify a lower
size may create a loophole.
The communal space should be large enough
to accommodate all of the students at the
same time. Many layouts do not suggest this is
the case and the possibility for all occupants to
meet together in the same space contributes to
mental wellbeing.
It should not be possible for the general
communal space to be provided all in the same
block unless there are special circumstances
(e.g. smaller blocks on the same site due to
site constraints). There should be no physical
or psychological barriers to the use of the
communal space by all residents. It should be
conveniently located for all residents, close to
rooms or the main routes through the building,
not at the end of dead-end corridors.
External amenity space should be a
requirement and “good” should be defined in
terms of quality and amenity. The external

The draft SPD sets out an expectation for developments to
achieve the mid- to upper sizes of the range at Para 9.3.4

Noted.

their influence on proposed
standards.
None. Not within the scope
of the draft SPD.

Consider formatting /
ordering of SPD regarding
when guidance does / does
not apply.
Reconsider the wording
regarding upper ends of the
ranges and clarify
implementation.

There is a balance to be struck within the standards so as
not to compromise deliverability (and the draft SPD is
grounded in schemes delivered / permitted in Leeds) and
the need to provide amenity.

Reconsider communal
space requirements to
ensure they are sufficient for
residents.

This is an important consideration and the need to provide a
range of communal spaces across the scheme is
recognised.

Ensure clarity of
expectations around
communal space delivery
across a PBSA scheme.

Noted.

Reconsider approach to
external amenity space and
clarify definitions.
23

Appendix 1
amenity space should be a variety of external
spaces and should avoid overshadowed areas.
Noise impacts should be taken into account.
The size requirements could adversely impact
on scheme viability

The requirements are derived from delivered / permitted
schemes in Leeds and are therefore considered to be
deliverable.

Page 56

The mix of cluster and studio accommodation
is supported.

Noted.

The numerical requirement for accessible
rooms should be avoided as the 1/20
requirement does not experience the
anticipated level of uptake. The focus should
be on the flexibility / adaptability of rooms as
required. A balanced approach based on
market need and mixed provision for students
should be encouraged.
It is important to note that 2.2 sqm bathroom
pods are commonly used in the UK and work
very well in respect of customer experience.

The requirement for accessible bedrooms reflects the
Building Regulations requirement. Accessibility is a key
priority for Leeds.

Clarity is needed on how quality and finish will
be assessed within the determination of
applications.
Shared kitchen/living/dining spaces needs reconsidering in terms of the amount of facilities
provided (i.e. the jump from 1 oven/hob/sink to
2).

Each case will be assessed on its own merits but the need
for definition is recognised.

The use of standard-sized PBSA bathroom “pods” is
recognised.

This warrants further consideration with providers.

None. The proposed SPD is
not considered to have a
significant detrimental
impact on viability.
None. This comment
supports the Council’s
approach.
Consider adaptability
regarding accessible room
provision in line with Building
Regulations expectations.

Revise proposed bathroom
size standards in recognition
of standard size pods that
have been delivered in
Leeds.
Consider bathroom
requirements (e.g. bathroom
“pods”) which have a smaller
floorspace requirement.
Clarify expectations
regarding quality and finish.
Explore and consider shared
kitchen/living/dining space
requirements and facilities
provided.

24

Appendix 1

Page 57

Clarity is needed on how appropriate furniture
provision is to be assessed within the
determination of applications. Unclear whether
this is justified.
1sqm general communal space is reasonable.
It is clearly an important factor of the balance
of space outside the individual bedroom that
contributes to the balance of overall provision.
Overlooking / privacy requirements should be
judged on a case-by-case basis.

Noted.

Consider explanation of
furniture requirements if
necessary.

Noted.

None. This comment
supports the Council’s
approach.

The need for flexibility is recognised.

Consideration should be given to how future
flexibility of buildings would be conditioned at
planning stage.
It is unclear how the appendices data has been
analysed and used to establish the space
standards proposed in the draft SPD
There is no direct link between the appendices
data and the minimum space ranges for the
size of bedrooms (and bathrooms) promoted in
the draft SPD. Many of the schemes contain
bedrooms, shared space, communal space or
a combination of all which fall below the
standards in the SPD which lacks justification.
There is no assessment of the viability of
adopting new space standards for PBSA or
reference to viability considerations – leading
to a risk that developments will become
unviable if required to comply with the
standards. This will compromise deliverability
of student accommodation (particularly
affordable student accommodation). It is

This is considered at 9.8.1.

Consider flexibility regarding
outlook / privacy
requirements to support a
case-by-case approach in
line with key principles.
Consider clarifying future
adaptability.

Noted.

Clarify methodology.

Noted.

Clarify methodology.

The proposed standards are derived from completed /
permitted schemes which demonstrate that they are viable
and deliverable.

None. The proposed SPD is
not considered to have a
significant detrimental
impact on viability.

25

Appendix 1

Page 58

important for the city to have a range of
student housing stock that meets all needs.
The range-based approach in the room sizes
means it is unclear to the development industry
what is expected in PBSA schemes.
The provisions within the SPD will impact on
the sector’s ability to deliver affordable student
accommodation and undermine the Council’s
vision by failing to provide an appropriate mix,
tenure and type of housing to meet the range
of needs in the city. It will also undermine
Leeds’ position at the heart of the city region
by undermining the economy through
restricting PBSA development. It would also
undermine the city centre’s growth by reducing
commercial, leisure and cultural vibrancy and
undermine the promotion of a diverse,
enterprising and competitive economy
supported by a skilled workforce, by failing to
meet the projected growth in student
population in the city.
There is a recognised increasing demand for
student accommodation, within the context of a
constrained supply of HMO accommodation
(due to Article 4), growth can be anticipated in
the PBSA sector. Should the provisions in the
SPD affect the viability or deliverability of new
PBSA schemes – developers will look to
develop elsewhere.
The SPD doesn’t recognise that students will
also have access to on campus facilities and
socialising space.

Para 9.3.4 explains the approach to the range.

Clarify range-based
approach further.

The proposed standards are derived from completed /
permitted schemes which demonstrate that they are viable
and deliverable.

None. The proposed SPD is
not considered to have a
significant detrimental
impact on viability.

The proposed standards are derived from completed /
permitted schemes which demonstrate that they are viable
and deliverable.

None. The proposed SPD is
not considered to have a
significant detrimental
impact on viability.

The function of on campus facilities and socialising space is
different to that within a PBSA scheme and the need for onsite communal space has been crystallised through the
Covid-19 pandemic and subsequent lockdowns.

Recognise the function of
on-campus communal space
and the need for on-site
communal space.

26

Appendix 1

Page 59

The SPD standards are based on existing
PBSA developments suggesting that the
market is self-regulating.

The SPD will help to avoid protracted negotiations on
schemes in future by establishing a clear benchmark.

A way to improve PBSA affordability is to have
larger flats (more than 8 bedrooms) which the
SPD will significantly constrain. The suggestion
that these are unacceptable is not justified.
It is not clear whether outdoor communal
space would count to the 1sqm requirement.

Larger cluster flats are not considered to provide a good
level of amenity or contribute positive to health and
wellbeing however the need to provide flexibility is
recognised.
The outdoor amenity space does not contribute to the
communal space requirement.

The standards are particularly difficult to
achieve in smaller schemes where margins are
tight. This will result in more larger-scale
buildings, with a loss of variety and humanscale design that is suitable to its local context.
Larger scale buildings are also more difficult to
manage and to create a sense of community
with tenants.
Large communal spaces add cost and
increase rents – which again would lead to less
affordable PBSA in the city.

The analysis used to support the SPD includes a wide
range of scheme sizes.

The assertion that PBSA developments should
be mixed across cluster flats and studios is
unsubstantiated. The focus should be on the
design of communal space and the
management of the building. Different types of
students live in studio flats (post graduate and
international students) and cluster flats (first
year students) – the SPD should leave this
choice to developers and not force a mix.

The need for a healthy mix has arisen from discussions with
the universities. Mix and avoidance of large blocks of
studios is considered to have an impact on health and
wellbeing and ultimately the amenity provided within the
scheme.

The proposed standards are derived from completed /
permitted schemes which demonstrate that they are viable
and deliverable.

None. The SPD sets clear
expectations to be used to
help determine future
planning applications.
Reconsider approach to size
of cluster flat arrangements.

Clarify that the 1sqm does
not include any outdoor
communal space.
Consider impact on smaller
schemes.

None. The proposed SPD is
not considered to have a
significant detrimental
impact on viability.
Affordability of PBSA
developments is outside of
the scope of the SPD.
Consider approach to mix.

27

Appendix 1
It is not clear why the SPD provides guidance
on mix within PBSA when the focus of the SPD
is on space, light and amenity standards.

Page 60

The requirement to provide accessible
bedrooms is supported, however the
requirement to fit out a bedroom is not
supported. Equally, the location of some PBSA
can be less desirable for students with
wheelchairs given the distance or route to/from
their place of study, and this can also affect
take-up. The use of the phrase “…should be
provided as required by tenants within PBSA
developments…” is therefore encouraged in
the final version of the SPD.
2.2sqm bedroom pods are commonly used in
the UK and work very well.

The studio requirement should allow for a
slightly smaller option (16sqm) which would
allow greater flexibility in providing a range of
affordable options within schemes.
The kitchen sizes set out at this Section are
generally oversized at the smaller cluster end.
Typically the market allows for 5 sqm per
bedroom in a cluster. Therefore a minimum of
15 sqm for a three bed cluster, 20 sqm for a 4
bed cluster and so on. The local planning

The need for a healthy mix has arisen from discussions with
the universities. Mix and avoidance of large blocks of
studios is considered to have an impact on health and
wellbeing and ultimately the amenity provided within the
scheme.
The requirement for accessible bedrooms reflects the
Building Regulations requirement. Accessibility is a key
priority for Leeds.

Consider approach to mix.

The use of standard-sized PBSA bathroom “pods” is
recognised.

Revise proposed bathroom
size standards in recognition
of standard size pods that
have been delivered in
Leeds.
Consider bathroom
requirements (e.g. bathroom
“pods”) which have a smaller
floorspace requirement.
Consider expanding the
range.

Noted.

Noted.

Consider adaptability
regarding accessible room
provision.

Revisit shared kitchen sizes
and ensure consistency with
schemes in Leeds.

28

Appendix 1

Page 61

authority either revise the minimum sizes or
should provide further justification of the sizes
set out, with reference to the range of schemes
that already operate in Leeds.
The SPD must cater for the broad range of
providers and their individual needs, and the
needs of the educational institutions who often
instruct the delivery of these schemes.
It’s clear from the schemes that have been
delivered or are coming forward in the Arena
District in Leeds City Centre (e.g. Symons
House, The Merrion Project, Commerce
House, Altus House and White Rose View)
that a mix of studios and cluster flats will be
delivered across the market as each provider
is catering for a certain market or need.
However, requiring each individual scheme to
deliver a mix of cluster flats and studios is
unreasonable in our view and will inhibit
delivery of certain schemes in the future.
The appropriate bathroom size is 2sqm and
mirrors the bathroom pods that many PBSA
providers use. A 3.4sqm requirement will
diminish the quality of the remaining space
within a cluster bedroom or studio.

Recommended amendments to PBSA sizes:

Leeds universities have been consulted as part of the
preparation of the SPD. Each scheme will be treated on a
case by case basis.

Continue to engage with the
universities as appropriate.

Mix and avoidance of large blocks of studios is considered
to have an impact on health and wellbeing and ultimately
the amenity provided within the scheme.

Consider approach to mix.

The use of standard-sized PBSA bathroom “pods” is
recognised.

Revise proposed bathroom
size standards in recognition
of standard size pods that
have been delivered in
Leeds.
Consider bathroom
requirements (e.g. bathroom
“pods”) which have a smaller
floorspace requirement.
Re-consider bedroom sizes
and how they relate to
schemes that have been
delivered in Leeds.

Noted.

29

Appendix 1

The requirement for no more than 8 beds in a
cluster flats runs contrary to the intention of the
SPD which is to facilitate social interaction.

Page 62

It is not appropriate to require all student
accommodation to provide a communal room.
Student accommodation varies depending on
factors such as its location, the number of bed
spaces provided and the age of students
residing in the property. Different types of
student accommodation meet different housing
needs and whilst communal rooms are often
provided in student accommodation, they are
not always necessary to meet students’
accommodation needs. It is not considered
appropriate to require smaller scale schemes,
particularly those involving conversions of
listed buildings, to comply with the requirement
to provide 1sqm of communal space per
bedspace.
Therefore, the requirement to have communal
space in all schemes seems unreasonable,
and it is requested that a flexible approach to
communal space is taken within the SPD so
that each proposal can be assessed on a case

Larger cluster flats are not considered to provide a good
level of amenity or contribute positive to health and
wellbeing however the need to provide flexibility is
recognised.
The Council considers the provision of shared communal
space to be critical to the overall function of PBSA
developments, to supporting interaction between students
and reducing the risk of isolation.

Reconsider approach to size
of cluster flat arrangements.

The Council considers the provision of shared communal
space to be critical to the overall function of PBSA
developments, to supporting interaction between students
and reducing the risk of isolation.

None. Shared space is an
important amenity
consideration irrespective of
studio/cluster arrangement,
particularly in terms of

None. Shared space is an
important amenity
consideration irrespective of
studio/cluster arrangement,
particularly in terms of
facilitating and supporting
social interaction.

30

Appendix 1

Page 63

by case basis, based on their location, tenant
profile etc.
It’s not considered appropriate to refer to
guidance for a completely different type of
development. Therefore, we request
paragraphs 9.4.3 and 9.4.4 are removed and
daylighting is assessed through the
methodology and principles of a more robust
methodology such as the Building Research
Establishment’s (BRE) guide “Site layout
planning for daylight and sunlight: a guide to
good practice (BR 209) by P Littlefair (12-Sep2011)”, or that this section is omitted entirely.
All PBSA will be required to comply with the
standards set out via Building Regulations
regardless of what is in the SPD.
The requirement for planning obligations for
communal space management is
unreasonable and would not meet the tests for
planning obligations set out in Para 56 of the
NPPF.

The approach to light is flexible for PBSA schemes taking
into account particular site circumstances but the basic
principles of having sufficient daylight penetration remain
the same.

facilitating and supporting
social interaction.
Re-consider methodology
with regards to light
penetration.

Noted.

Confirm links to Building
Regulations.

The Council does not consider this to be the case given that
management plans are a key to ensuring the proper
operation of PBSA developments, which includes communal
spaces.

None. Management plans
are a common feature of
PBSA permissions.

31

Appendix 1
Co-Living*
* Please note that the Council is considering the removal of the Co-living section of the draft SPD to enable further consideration of
co-living as a concept and the appropriate policy response. The representations made in respect of co-living have nevertheless been
acknowledged and responded to, should the Council wish to consider providing guidance on co-living at a future time.
Co-Living Developments*
Comment
Co-living bedspaces should be large enough to
allow residents privacy. It is inappropriate that
facilities are shared.
Roof terraces are not recommended in
residential areas due to potential adverse
noise impacts.
The additional storage requirement for co-living
bed spaces is unjustified.

Page 64

The approach to shared kitchens is unjustified
and only represents one approach to delivery.
There are other models which include larger,
more centrally located communal provision.
The SPD should not be prescriptive and should
encourage innovation.
It is be difficult to provide external amenity
space on city centre schemes and the 25%
total floor area requirement is unrealistic. This
should be balanced within overall amenity
provision.
The section on how/where the guidance
applies would be better at the beginning of the
section.

Response
Co-living is a new form of accommodation which promotes
the sharing of facilities as part of the overall approach to
delivery. By definition, elements of living are shared.
Noted.

Proposed Action
None. The Council is
providing guidance for a new
form of accommodation.
Consider noise impacts.

Given that co-living rooms are likely to be residents’ main
residence then there is a clear need for additional storage.
For PBSA developments students (generally) have a family
home which will provide storage opportunities.

None. Storage will be an
important feature of co-living
developments as they will
likely be the main residence
for occupants.
Consider distances to
shared kitchens.

For amenity purposes the Council considers the provision of
shared kitchens on each floor a necessity to support
effective management and to ensure residents who want to
cook in shared kitchens but eat in their own rooms do not
have to travel long distances with hot food.
Noted. This expectation is a starting point and this would
need to be consistent with Policies G4 and G5.

Consider revision to external
amenity space requirements
and balance within overall
provision.

Noted.

Consider formatting /
ordering of SPD regarding
when guidance does / does
not apply.

32

Appendix 1
The SPD is setting the standard, so they do
not need to be “much” lower than NDSS
standards, though they may be lower.
It should be made clear that unless all of the
facilities listed are communally provided, the
scheme would be a C3 residential scheme and
the NDSS would apply.

Page 65

It would be useful here to create graph
showing balance between studio and
communal spaces – anything ‘above the line’ is
OK but not below.
Like PBSAs, Co-living schemes’ Use Class is
sui generis. It is right to point out that planning
permission will be needed for conversion to C3
(unless government policy changes yet again),
but for long term sustainability reasons it
should be a requirement for both types of
development that their construction ensures
they can be converted to C3 relatively easily
and without major demolition and rebuilding.
Applicants should be required to demonstrate
how that could be done.
The Council should avoid introducing
standards that would inhibit innovation.

The SPD should recognise that co-living does
not just allow for shorter tenancy periods,
many tenants will stay for longer periods of
time. It is not the case that co-living is a
temporary living accommodation, as the whole
ethos focusses on building community. Shorter

The SPD sets out a rationale and methodology for co-living
spaces.

Consider methodology and
NDSS benchmarking.

The definition of co-living developments remains a point of
debate and the SPD points towards a workable definition.
However, if the co-living bed spaces contain all of the
communal facilities and are capable of functioning as selfcontained dwellings, then usual policy requirements for C3
dwellings would apply, including NDSS.
There may be scope to use diagrams.

Clarify requirements for
shared living approach.

The draft SPD seeks to support future adaptability of these
developments.

None. This is covered within
the draft SPD.

The Council does not consider that standards inhibit
innovation, rather clarify expectations for quality.

None. The draft SPD
provides guidance on
amenity standards and does
not stifle innovation.
None. It is common for coliving developments to have
a maximum stay.

The draft SPD recognises the typical operation of co-living
developments which acts as an intermediate form of
accommodation.

Consider use of diagrams or
illustrative material.

33

Appendix 1

Page 66

periods of less than 6 months will impact on
operating costs.
At paragraph 11.2.3 the Council notes that
“The presence of the following facilities would
help to confirm co-living use”. It would be
helpful if the language were clarified by the
local planning authority. Not all co-living
schemes will provide concierge / communal
workspaces and / or gyms for example, and
many do not include room cleaning.
The interrelationship between private rooms
and shared amenity in terms of size and
facilities is important, and that this should be
judged on a case-by-case basis. The SPD
should also note that the location of the
building will influence the necessity or
otherwise of some of these facilities – for
example, a centrally located offer will benefit
from a range of facilities nearby and therefore
providing them within the building will not be
viable.
The minimum unit sizes requirement is not
supported as this would restrict the market
through delivering innovative design across a
building, and the ability to offer affordable price
points.
If a minimum size is required, the starting point
should be 14sqm as is the case in schemes
already operational across the UK.
The whole premise of co-living is based on
smaller units in return for higher levels of
shared space and better service/ affordability.
Therefore setting a higher bracket for room
sizes will either prevent development from
being viable, or lead to decreased affordability

The draft SPD points towards a workable definition and
identifies factors that would help to confirm a co-living use. It
does not mandate all of those factors on the list.

None. The co-living model is
recognised as a fluid model
which varies between
different operators. The SPD
therefore recognises that
flexibility.

There is a clear inter-dependency and it is important that the
SPD supports a positive relationship between bedspaces
and shared spaces. Appropriate locations for proposed coliving schemes is not within the scope of the SPD.

Clarify importance of
relationship between shared
spaces and bed spaces.

There is a balance to be struck and the draft SPD
advocates a range based approach which includes
flexibility. Affordability should not be used as a justification
for smaller bedspaces.

None. Minimum room sizes
are necessary to provide
amenity.

The Council does not consider a 14sqm unit size would be
appropriate for a co-living bedspace.

None. The proposed space
standards are appropriate.

There is a balance to be struck and the draft SPD
advocates a range based approach which includes
flexibility. Affordability should not be used as a justification
for smaller bedspaces.

None. Minimum room sizes
are necessary to provide
amenity.

34

Appendix 1

Page 67

for local residents. In terms of shared amenity,
this should be at a minimum of 1sqm per
bedroom for the policy to be effective.
The walking distance is unreasonable for coliving schemes and is by no mean justified. Coliving schemes advocate much more
centralised kitchens within a building to
promote the wider ‘community’ aspect, and
provide better quality cook stations in a larger
setting. The areas quoted mean that cooking
and eating are all done locally and do not allow
for a more social centralised environment,
which is the main point/advantage of the coliving product. Many schemes therefore cater
for far more than 10 bedrooms to build
community.
Under Planning Obligations, Paragraph
11.12.2 refers to planning permission would be
required to convert the property into C3
accommodation. Whilst the statement is noted
(Co-living is a sui generis use) this is not a
matter necessarily for a planning obligation.

For amenity purposes the Council considers the provision of
shared kitchens on each floor a necessity to support
effective management and to ensure residents who want to
cook in shared kitchens but eat in their own rooms do not
have to travel long distances with hot food.

Consider distances to
shared kitchens.

Noted.

Change title of section.

35

Appendix 1
Appendices
Appendices
Comment
The indicative layouts in Appendix 3 are not
practical or workable.
The layouts are difficult to read

Page 68

Some of the figures quoted for PBSA schemes
do not match the accommodation schedules.
Appendix 3: it is not clear whether the
indicative layouts are guidance. All the other
appendices appear to be included for
information, but is Appendix 3 intended to
indicate exemplary, acceptable or
unacceptable examples of layouts.
Appendix 3: Clarity is needed on how the
layouts will be used by officers.

Response
Noted. They are indicative and will depend on particular
property types.
Noted.
Noted. Approved plans for listed schemes have been
measured using specialist software.
Noted.

Noted.

Proposed Action
None. These are indicative.
Ensure text on indicative
layouts is readable.
Clarify methodology.
Clarify role of Appendix 3.

Clarify role of Appendix 3.

36

